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CHAPTER XVII. THE MEDICAL PROFESSION




 




Doctor Saugrain gives notice

of the first vaccine matter brought to St. Louis. Indigent persons vaccinated

gratuitously. Missouri Gazette, March 26, 1809. 




 




Science and humanity have gone

hand-in-hand with the medical profession of St. Louis. When the first doctor

died, it was found that 232 people owed him for services. The doctor was Andre

Auguste Conde. He came to St. Louis from Fort Chartres the year after Laclede

founded the settlement. He established a high standard of ethics and the

doctors of St. Louis have lived up to it 146 years. Frederic L. Billon, the

authority on St. Louis antiquities, concluded, after some investigation, that

Conde's list of debtors was almost a directory of the families of St. Louis and

Cahokia for the ten years the good doctor lived here. 




The second doctor that came to

St. Louis was Jean Baptiste Valleau. He was French but was in the Spanish

service, being surgeon of the force which Ulloa sent to build forts at the

mouth of the Missouri in 1768. Dr. Valleau, evidently, intended to stay; he

applied to St. Ange to assign him a lot and entered into a contract for the

building of a house. The site given him was on Second and Pine streets where

the Gay building was erected long afterwards. Dr. Valleau furnished the iron

and nails. Tousignau, the carpenter, agreed to supply the posts and do all of

the work on a house eighteen feet long by fourteen feet wide for $60. In the

performance of his professional duties Valleau made frequent trips to

Bellefontaine on the Missouri where the Spaniards were building the forts.

Exposure to the hot sun brought on sickness. Within a year after his coming,

Dr. Valleau made his will and died. One of the principal assets of his estate

was a box of playing cards, a gross of packs. Martin Duralde, the executor, had

considerable trouble in disposing of the cards. The number of packs depressed

the market. He waited two or three years and held an auction. In the history of

St. Louis Dr. Valleau's will is the first recorded. The village was four and a

half years old when he died. 




After Valleau came Doctors

Antoine Reynal, Bernard Gibkins, Claudio Mercier and Joachim Gingembre. These

were residents for varying periods under the Spanish governors. When Doctor

Mercier died, he freed his slave and gave $100 to the poor. 




In 1801, responding to several

successive appeals, the Spanish authority at New Orleans, concluded that St.

Louis had attained the importance justifying a hospital and a government

physician. Morales wrote to Delassus: 




 




In accordance with what the

Marquis of Casa Calvo agreed with my predecessor regarding a hospital and

physician for the town of San Luis de Illinois, it is determined that a

physician shall be appointed and that he shall have a salary of $30 a month.

The appointment shall be given to Don Antonio Saugrain. A comfortable room

shall be arranged in the quarters designed for a hospital. This accountant's

office is to supply everything necessary for twelve beds and from this capital

(New Orleans) all of the medicines that will be required will be sent. Don

Antonio Saugrain will not get his salary until you have appointed him. He must

keep account of all of the medicines used annually and the statement must be

sent to this office written in Spanish. The medicines will be used only by the

troop and marine of the king who may enter the hospital. If other people should

be admitted to the hospital they must pay for the medicines at the existing

prices in the market. 




 




To St. Louis, in 1800, came a

physician and scientist who was to leave his impression on the community. Dr.

Antoine Francois Saugrain may be called the father of the medical profession of

St. Louis and the profession may feel honored thereby. He came to the United

States on the advice of Benjamin Franklin when the latter was minister to

France. The young Frenchman, born in Versailles, highly educated and with

developed taste for scientific investigation impressed Mr. Franklin as the kind

of a man to make a valuable American. His first experience in this country was

rather disheartening. After living nine years with the unfortunate French

colony of Gallipolis on the Ohio river, Dr. Saugrain floated down the Ohio and

made his way to St. Louis four years before the American occupation. With the

Saugrains came the Michauds of Gallipolis. Dr. Saugrain had married Genevieve

Rosalie Michaud, eldest of the daughters of John Michaud. Two little girls,

Rosalie and Eliza Saugrain, made the journey. They became the wives of Henry

Von Phul and James Kennerly, the merchants. Other daughters of Dr. Saugrain

married Major Thomas O'Neil, of the United States army, and John W. Reel, the

St. Louis merchant. Descendants of the Saugrains and Michauds are numerous in

this generation of St. Louisans. 




Possibly the reason that the

medical profession had attracted so little attention up to the coming of the

Saugrains was because of the good health which the community enjoyed. The

eldest daughter of the doctor remembered that when the family first came to St.

Louis there were few cases of sickness. When Dr. Saugrain came, he discovered

that the habitants were accustomed to go to Father Didier, the priest, when

they felt bad. Father Didier would fix up teas from herbs and give simple

remedies, without professing to be educated in medicine. Dr. Saugrain was a botanist.

He depended largely upon vegetable compounds and upon brews from herbs which he

grew in a wonderful garden that surrounded his house, or gathered in the wild

state. 




The first case of smallpox

appeared in St. Louis the year after Dr. Saugrain came. With it came a problem

that appealed to the scientific mind. The virtue of vaccination was accepted by

Dr. Saugrain. As soon as he could supply himself with the material, Dr.

Saugrain began a campaign of education. He published cards in the Gazette

explaining the preventive. He informed "such physicians and other

intelligent persons as reside beyond the limits of his accustomed practice that

he will with much pleasure upon application furnish them with vaccine

infection." But especially noteworthy, and characteristic of the medical

profession in St. Louis in all its history, was the philanthropic position

taken by Dr. Saugrain toward those so unfortunate as to be unable to protect

themselves. "Persons in indigent circumstances," he wrote to the Gazette,

"paupers and Indians will be vaccinated and attended gratis." 




From the days when St. Louis

chose a doctor for the first mayor of the new city, the medical profession has

done for St. Louis far more than to prescribe for physical ails. That first

mayor, Dr. William Carr Lane, in his inaugural message, 1823, said:

"Health is a primary object, and there is much more danger of disease

originating at home than of its seeds coming from abroad. I recommend the

appointment of a board of health to be selected from the body of citizens, with

ample powers to search out and remove nuisances, and to do whatever else may

conduce to general health. This place has of late acquired a character for

unhealthfulness which it did not formerly bear and does not deserve. I am

credibly informed that it is not many. years since a fever of high grade was

rarely, if ever seen. To what is the distressing change attributable? May we

not say principally to the insufficiency of our police regulations? What is the

present condition of yards, drains, etc.? May we not dread the festering heat

of next summer? If this early warning had been heeded, St. Louis might have

escaped or minimized the series of terrible cholera epidemics which began in

the next decade. 




Progress in sanitary conveniences

was shown by the newspaper announcement in 1829 that "the new bathing

establishment of Mr. J. Sparks & Co. has about thirty-five visitors, and of

that number not one has experienced an hour's sickness since the bathing

commenced; we should, for the benefit of the city, be glad there were more

encouragement, and, as the season is partly over, tickets have been reduced to

one dollar the season." 




The distinction of being the

first American physician and surgeon to establish himself permanently west of

the Mississippi belongs to Bernard Gaines Farrar. Born in Virginia and reared

in Kentucky, young Dr. Farrar, on the advice of his brother-in-law, Judge

Coburn, came to St. Louis to live two years after the American occupation. He

was just of age. Dr. Charles Alexander Pope described Farrar as a man of most

tender sensibilities, so tender-hearted that he seemed to suffer with his

patients. And yet, before he had been in St. Louis three years, Dr. Farrar

performed a surgical operation which for a generation was a subject of marvel

in the settlements and along the trails of the Mississippi valley. The patient

was young Shannon, who had made the journey to the mouth of the Columbia with

Lewis and Clark. Going with a second government expedition to find the sources

of the Missouri, Shannon was shot by Blackfoot Indians. He was brought down the

river to St. Louis, arriving in very bad condition. Dr. Farrar amputated the

leg at the thigh. Shannon recovered, went to school, became a highly educated

man and served on the bench in Kentucky. He never failed to give Dr. Farrar the

credit of saving his life. The St. Louis surgeon went on performing what in

those days were surgical miracles. Older members of the St. Louis profession

always believed that Farrar antedated Sansom in the performance of a very

delicate operation on the bladder, although Sansom, by reason of making

publication first, is given the credit in medical history. Dr. Farrar died of

the cholera in the epidemic of 1849. He was the man universally regarded as the

dean of the medical profession of St. Louis in that day. It was said of Dr.

Farrar that he was the physician and surgeon most devoted to the duties of his

profession; that he took' very little recreation; that he did not indulge in

the sports of fishing and hunting which were common. Dr. Charles A. Pope

pronounced before the medical association a eulogy in which he declared that

the acts of benevolence and the charity performed by Dr. Farrar at the time

when there was no hospital or asylum in the city were "unparalleled."






"Patent medicines"

followed the American flag into St. Louis. They were here when Colonel Charless

began to publish the Gazette. Within a month after the inaugural number, the

Gazette was advertising cough drops, balsam of honey, British oil, bilious

pills, essence of peppermint. Four years later, Dr. Robert Simpson, a young

Marylander who had come to St. Louis as assistant surgeon in the army, opened

the first drug store in St. Louis, associating with himself Dr. Quarles. Dr.

Simpson became postmaster and in the fifty years of his life in St. Louis had a

varied experience. He went into local politics and held the offices of

collector and of sheriff. In his more active years it was said of him that he

knew personally everybody living in St. Louis and most of the people in the

county. He engaged in mercantile life, was cashier of the first savings bank,

the Boatmen's, was chosen comptroller of the city several times and went to the

Legislature. 




The first medical student west of

the Mississippi was Meredith Martin. He was a young Kentuckian who came to St.

Louis and read medical books in the office of Dr. Farrar in 1828. There was no

medical school here. After he had read the books, Martin went to Philadelphia

and took a degree. He came back to St. Louis to practice and had a strenuous

beginning. Almost immediately he was given a commission to go to the Indian

Territory and vaccinate the Indians. This was a work of months. Dr. Martin

returned to St. Louis to find the city passing through its first terrible

visitation of cholera. He lived to be one of the oldest physicians in St. Louis

and was three times elected president of the St. Louis Medical society. 




A highly educated son of Maryland

who joined the medical profession in St. Louis, a representative of one of the

families of Revolutionary patriots, was Dr. Stephen W. Adreon. He came in 1832.

After some years of practice he, like many other members of his profession,

took an interest in civic matters and served as a member of the city council

under three mayors, Kennett, King and Filley. As president of the board of

health, Dr. Adreon had much to do with the development of that department of

the municipal government. He was also, toward the close of his active career,

health officer and one of the managers of the House of Refuge. 




Connection with the army brought

to St. Louis notable members of the medical profession. The most distinguished

of these, probably, was a surgeon of Connecticut birth. Dr. William Beaumont

had been a surgeon in the regular army about twenty years when, after being

stationed for some time at Jefferson Barracks and the arsenal, he resigned and

made his home in St. Louis. That was about 1832. While he was living here Dr.

Beaumont brought out a book which gave him worldwide fame. He called it

"Physiology of Digestion and Experiments on the Gastric Juice." That

wasn't a title to arouse much curiosity among laymen, but when the story got

into circulation, interest was not confined to the profession. During the time

that Dr. Beaumont was at an army post on the Canadian frontier he was called

upon to attend Alexis St. Martin, a boatman. Martin had been shot in such a

manner as to leave a hole in his stomach. The wound healed, but the hole did

not close. Dr. Beaumont carried on a long series of experiments. He observed

the operation of digestion under many conditions. St. Martin ate solids and

drank liquids under the doctor's directions. The doctor looked into the

stomach, watched and timed the progress. He was able to give from actual

observation the effects produced by various kinds of foods and drinks upon the

stomach. 




Some of these young physicians

who settled in St. Louis combined sound business qualifications with

professional standing. Dr. Alexander Marshall, who was born eight miles from

Edinburgh, Scotland, made a careful tour of observation of American cities

before he decided upon St. Louis in 1840 as his permanent location. He had $600

when he came here and gave himself six months to live on that while making

acquaintances. But before the half year of probation was up, Dr. Marshall had

not only become self-supporting on his practice, but had added $600 to his nest-egg.

He continued to practice in St. Louis and accumulated an estate of $300,000. 




Henry Van Studdiford was intended

for the ministry by his New Jersey relatives, but his natural bent and

education took him into the profession of medicine. He came to St. Louis in

1839, invested the surplus earnings from his practice in real estate. He did

this so judiciously that he became one of the wealthiest members of his

profession in this city. He married a daughter of Colonel Martin Thomas, the

army officer who established and commanded the St. Louis arsenal. 




The first medical lecture

delivered west of the Mississippi was by Dr. John S. Moore, from North

Carolina. On the basis of a fine classical education he started for

Philadelphia, at that early day the center of medical education in the United

States, to complete his studies and "get a diploma." Meeting Dr.

McDowell, he was induced to stop in Cincinnati, and became a member of the

first class of the Cincinnati Medical college, graduating in 1832. As the

youngest member of the faculty of the medical department of Kemper college,

with which medical education began in St. Louis, Dr. Moore delivered that first

lecture. 




Charles W. Stevens was a member

of the Kemper college medical faculty. He was one of the first graduates of

that institution. Coming west from his New York home to be a civil engineer and

surveyor, when he was about of age, Stevens found that profession unpromising

and took up the study of medicine. Diseases of the nervous system became his

specialty and he was superintendent and physician of the St. Louis Insane

Asylum. Kemper college was located where the asylum was afterwards built. Dr.

Stevens went to his charge of the city's wards on the same hilltop in southwest

St. Louis where he had studied medicine and had lectured a quarter of a century

before. The first class of young doctors graduated at Kemper included Dr. E. S.

Frazier, a young Kentuckian, who married a sister of Dr. John S. Moore and

joined the profession in St. Louis. 




Dr. Edwin Bathurst Smith, a

Virginian, member of an old family of that state, before he came to St. Louis

had been one of the founders of the Louisiana Medical college. He had been the

first physician to give yellow fever patients cold drinks to allay the fever.

He went through the first cholera epidemic of this country, that of 1832, and

won high reputation as an authority. After settling in St. Louis he devoted the

most of his attention to the sciences and was one of a coterie which half a

century ago gave St. Louis worldwide fame in scientific matters. 




The cholera epidemics developed

heroic qualities in the medical profession of St. Louis. Dr. Hardage Lane, a

cousin of the first mayor of St. Louis, Dr. William Carr Lane, devoted himself

day and night to cholera patients in 1849, until he was overcome with physical

exhaustion, dying after a brief illness. 




In the fall of 1838 Dr. Joseph N.

McDowell began to lecture to the students of Kemper college. His subject was

the history of man. He illustrated his talks with skulls of the different

races. The lectures were fascinating. Students wanted more. Dr. McDowell built

a medical college, not the great pile of masonry which looked like a massive

fort; that came later. The first McDowell college was a small brick building.

There the young men of St. Louis flocked to him for medical education.

Architecturally, McDowell's college was as original as the founder. A large

stove in the amphitheater of his first college building gave Dr. McDowell the

suggestion of an octagon building. This plan was carried out as far as means

would permit. The octagon building was to be eight stories in height. It was

started with foundations eight feet thick but never reached the height

designed. In the center was a column of masonry which was to form the peak of

the roof. In this massive column Dr. McDowell intended to have niches in which

to place the copper cases containing the bodies of members of his family. 




From the Christian Brothers'

academy, northward toward the city was open space. It extended toward Mill

Creek and the famous mill. The creek ran under a culvert where Seventh street

crossed. This open space Dr. McDowell appropriated for his patriotic

celebrations. He encouraged his devoted medical students to make much of

Washington's Birthday and of the Fourth of July. Several cannon were included

in the equipment of McDowell's Medical college. They had been obtained

originally for moral effect at a time when popular prejudice was easily

inflamed against dissecting rooms. And when a national holiday came around, the

head of the institution took evident satisfaction in showing the community that

he and his constituency knew how to shoot them. 




The cannon were not mounted upon

wheeled carriages but that did not deter Dr. McDowell. Wearing a three-cornered

hat of the continentals, with feathers bristling from it, having a large

cavalry sabre strapped to his waist, McDowell would lead his students carrying

the cannon to the vacant space. The guns were placed on sawbucks for support.

Dr. McDowell superintended the loading and firing. In loud and emphatic

language he gave his orders, encouraging much cheering and telling his

followers to "make Rome howl." That was one of the doctor's favorite

forms of appeal.  




Those days of patriotic outburst

by Dr. McDowell and the medical students were observed in very different spirit

by the Christian Brothers and their pupils. Brother Jasper was in charge of the

playground. The coming of the medical body was the signal for Brother Jasper to

assemble the students of the academy and to marshal them to a place of safety.

The Brothers, viewing the reckless manner in which Dr. McDowell conducted the

salutes in honor of the day, had no doubt there would sometime be an explosion,

with loss of life or limb. There was strong suspicion that the evident

apprehension of the Brothers stimulated Dr. McDowell to louder and more violent

language and to greater demonstrations on his holidays. The more marked the

disturbance of the Brothers became, the greater seemed the satisfaction of the

doctor. And yet it was not malevolence, for Dr. McDowell would speak well of

his neighbors. One day returning from the celebration on the vacant space, the

doctor thrust his head in at an open window of the academy and loudly declared

with unquotable emphasis that if he had a boy young enough to go to school he

would send him to the Brothers. 




Dr. Warren B. Outten, the

surgeon, was a boy student at the Christian Brothers' academy, as it was called

in the decade of 1850-60. His recollection of the militant head of McDowell's

Medical college remained vivid through all of the years that followed: 




 




He was a tall, slim man, with

clean cut features and cleanly shaven face. His hair was gray and combed

straight back from his forehead after the manner of Calhoun. Dr. McDowell was

to each and every student of the academy a marked and wonderful character. His

intensity and tendency toward profanity, his high pitched voice, his swaggering

and independent bearing made him always interesting, awesome and peculiar. I

can well remember how the brothers viewed him. To them he was a vice regnant

deputy of His Satanic Majesty. Brother Valgen, who was master of dormitory for

fifty years, a man of mild, timid character, if he could see Dr. McDowell a

square off, would cross himself and hunt for cover. 




 




Great reputation locally as an

orator, had Dr. McDowell. His language was always picturesque and often lurid.

His commencement addresses drew to his college large audiences. The late Dr.

Montrose A. Fallen could describe graphically one of these commencement days at

McDowell's college, for he was present although a student of another

institution. The manner and words of McDowell made a lasting impression on

Fallen's memory. On that commencement day, Dr. McDowell came down the center

aisle of the amphitheater, carrying his violin and bow. When he reached the amphitheater

table he turned and facing the expectant throng began to play. After several

tunes, he laid down the violin and spoke in his high pitched voice: 




 




Now, gentlemen, we have been

together five long months. Doubtless, some of these months have been very happy

months, and doubtless some have been very perplexing ones. Such is the eternal

fate of workers and students. But now, gentlemen, the saddest of all sad words

must be uttered, namely, farewell! Here retrospection takes her sway, either

gladdened or saddened, as idiosyncrasies hold the mind. We have wandered in the

labyrinthian way of anatomy. We have floated in the ethereal atmosphere of

physiology. We have waded knee deep, nay, neck deep, into a sea of theory and

practice; ground, filtered, pounded and inspected elements of materia medica,

and slowly pounded in the endless crucible of chemistry. As we say farewell! it

is needless for me to say that I hope God may, in His infinite mercy, bless you

as you deserve. But remember that labor omnia vincit. No man under God's blue

sky need hope that success can, or will come without labor, for God has

ordained that all of us must earn our living by the sweat of our brow. Nature

only recognizes the laborer, and eternally damns the rich man, by satiety and

disease. 




Doubtless one of your number,

in this class, will come back to the great city of St. Louis with the snow of

many winters upon his hair and walking upon three legs instead of two, as

Sphinx has it. As he wanders here and there upon its streets amidst the crowded

and eager throng, noting the wondrous improvement here and the change there,

suddenly, gentlemen, it will occur to him to ask of one of the eager

passers-by, "Where is Dr. McDowell?" "Dr. McDowell? Dr.

McDowell?" he will say, "what Dr. McDowell?" "Why," he

will tell him, "Dr. McDowell, the surgeon?" "Oh, yes, Dr.

McDowell, the surgeon. Why! He lies buried close to Bellefontaine. " 




Slowly, gentlemen, he will

wend his way thither, and there amidst the rank weeds, he will find a plain

marble slab inscribed, "J. McDowell, Surgeon." While he stands there

contemplating the rare virtues and eccentricities of this old man, suddenly,

gentlemen, the spirit of Dr. McDowell will arise on ethereal wings and bless

him, aye! thrice bless him. Then, suddenly, gentlemen, this spirit will take a

swoop and as he passes McDowell's college he will drop a parting tear. But,

gentlemen, when he gets to Pope's college, he will spit upon it. Yes, I say, he

will spit upon it. 




 




Into his peroration Dr. McDowell

would throw almost frenzied emphasis. When he concluded there would be a

hurricane of cheers and yells. Dr. Fallen was a student at Pope's college, but,

as did many of the students of the rival institution, he went to hear Dr.

McDowell's address to his graduates. 




Very strange were the ideas Dr.

McDowell had about the disposition of the dead. When Dr. McDowell thought he

was going to die, he called to his bedside Dr. Charles W. Stevens and Dr. Drake

McDowell, his son. He exacted from them a solemn promise that they would place

his body in a copper receptacle and fill the space with alcohol. The

receptacle, they were to suspend in Mammoth Cave, Kentucky. Permission to do

this, the doctor claimed he had already obtained. This eccentric demand was not

a great surprise to Dr. Stevens. Coming to McDowell's college to study

medicine, Stevens had learned quickly something of his preceptor's strange

fancies. A child of Dr. McDowell died a few days after Stevens entered the

college. The coffin was lined with metal. The body was placed in the coffin.

All space remaining was filled with alcohol and the coffin was sealed tightly.

A year or so later, the body of the child was removed from the coffin, and

placed in a large copper case. This was Dr. McDowell's method of treating the

bodies of his children. No religious service of any kind was performed. The

copper cases were carried at night attended by a procession formed by the

medical students and friends of the family. Each person carried a torch. The

place of disposition was a vault in the rear of the residence. The thought of a

natural cave as a final resting place was a favorite one. Dr. McDowell bought a

cave near Hannibal. He had a wall built across the opening and placed in it an

iron door. The vase or case containing one of the children in alcohol was taken

from St. Louis to this cave and suspended from the roof. Vandals broke open the

iron door and the vault became accessible to the curious public. Dr. McDowell

gave up the notion and made no further use of the cave. He purchased a knoll or

mound across the river, not far from Cahokia, in view with a glass from the

cupola of the college. There he constructed a vault in which he placed the body

of his wife. Years afterward Dr. McDowell and his wife were buried in

Bellefontaine. 




McDowell wore his hair in an iron

gray mane thrown back and falling almost to the shoulder. He had great natural

power as an orator, but he cultivated rather familiarity than dignity. Standing

at the front of the courthouse to address a public gathering he was greeted by someone

in the crowd as "old sawbones." "Yes," he answered back, in

his high pitched voice, "I am 'old sawbones' and look out that I don't saw

your bones." 




Dr. McDowell was a fascinating

lecturer. He had stories to illustrate every assertion. His students were in

the habit of saying that Dr. McDowell could tell a story to go with every bone,

muscle, nerve and vessel of the human body. Dr. McDowell was not a successful

business man. The college passed through financial straits. The doctor held St.

Louis University responsible for his money troubles because the faculty

permitted another medical college to be organized under the auspices of the

University. He lectured against the Jesuits. And then he professed to feel that

he and his college were in danger of attack. Wearing a brass breastplate made

according to his own design and carrying arms, Dr. McDowell turned his medical

college into a fortress. He bought 1,400 condemned muskets from the United

States government, paying $2.50 apiece for them. These he stored in the

basement of the college. From old brass, which he bought, and from the college

bell Dr. McDowell had cast for him six cannon. He talked of recruiting from his

students a force to march across the plains and capture some Mexican territory.

When the Civil war came Dr. McDowell went south and gave his cannon to the

Confederacy. He died in 1868. 




Altogether unlike McDowell was

that other dominant figure of early medical education in St. Louis, Charles

Alexander Pope. In leisure hours, Dr. Warren B. Outten attained marked facility

with the brush. He painted a portrait of Dr. Pope, under whom he had been a

student when Pope's college was known throughout the country. Dr. Outten has

given a pen picture of Dr. Pope. He describes him as "a very handsome man,

about five feet, nine inches tall, having a well-shaped head with dark blue

eyes, well-turned eyebrows, an expression of thoughtful gentleness about the

eyes. It was a face such as to win anyone on first sight. Dr. Pope had a

general appearance of elegance and culture. His voice was quick, incisive and

agreeable in tone. His movements were quick and graceful. Dr. Pope was unconsciously

polite and courteous. He was in my estimation, in every respect, a most perfect

gentleman. He never descended to anything little, petty or mean. No one ever

heard a vulgar or profane word come from his lips, nor did he ever utter abuse

or gossip about a professional confrere. Always eager to commend and always

full of good advice and encouragement, he made the world around him better for

his having been in it." 




From such a picture of Dr. Pope

it is not difficult to understand the strong and lasting impression he made

upon his profession in St. Louis. Dr. Pope was from Alabama. He had studied

under Drake at Cincinnati, had graduated from the University of Pennsylvania,

had spent several years in medical schools in France, in England and in Ireland,

coming to St. Louis in 1842. Within a year he entered the faculty of the St.

Louis Medical college as professor of anatomy. In 1846, Dr. Pope married

Caroline O'Fallon, the daughter of John O'Fallon. Proud of his brilliant

son-in-law, John O'Fallon built on Seventh and Spruce streets the medical

college which in its architecture and appointments was without equal in the

United States, outside of New York and Philadelphia. Around him Dr. Pope drew a

faculty of great strength. In 1854 he was elected president of the American

Medical association. 




Coming back to St. Louis from

Europe in 1870, Dr. Pope received a reception such as has been given to few

citizens after an absence. To the faculty, newly organized, of the St. Louis

College of Physicians and Surgeons, at a banquet, Dr. Pope made an address in

March, 1870. Four months later, this man of splendid faculties, with a record

of inestimable usefulness to his profession in St. Louis, was dead by his own

hand. It was one of St. Louis' mysteries. 




Pope's College survives, with its

strenuous traditions and its honorable record in the history of medical

education of St. Louis. It has been, in its lifetime, the medical department of

two universities. It has stood alone as the St. Louis Medical college. Uniting

with the Missouri Medical college, it was merged in the Washington University

medical department. 




The decade 1840-50 gave to the

medical profession of St. Louis notable characters. These men were not only

strong personalities but they brought to their practice and to the educational

work in which they engaged the advantages of study and observation far beyond

the ordinary. And this inheritance of knowledge and thought they passed down to

the thousands of young men who came to the medical schools of St. Louis. To

these physicians and surgeons, coming from other countries and from various

states, St. Louis owes much for her foremost position among cities in the

philanthropy which has to do with physical ails. 




S. Gratz Moses, born in

Philadelphia, had enjoyed classical education and medical training before he

went to Europe as physician to Joseph Bonaparte, the eldest brother of

Napoleon. His connection with the Bonaparte family brought him into friendly

relations with the great men of his profession in Paris. Returning to this

country, Dr. Moses came to St. Louis in 1841. The next year he, with half a

dozen young men in his profession, started something that was new in this city

and one of the first of its class in the United States. That institution was a

dispensary for treatment of those unable to employ physicians. Mrs. Vital M.

Garesche suggested this dispensary and worked zealously for its establishment.

The support came from churches and private subscriptions. The Mullanphy family

gave generously toward this as they did toward other movements to relieve the

unfortunate. At that time the Unitarian church was on Fourth and Pine streets.

With his spirit of cooperation in all public spirited enterprise, Rev. Dr.

William G. Eliot gave rooms to the dispensary office in the basement of his

church. Associated with Dr. Moses in this work were Dr. William M. McPheeters,

Dr. J. B. Johnson, Dr. Charles A. Pope, Dr. J. L. Clark, Dr. George Johnson and

others. These men carried on the dispensary for seven years until the city

assumed this as a municipal function and opened a public dispensary. 




Those were primitive times. It is

said that the only one of these practitioners in the early forties who rode in

a buggy to visit his patients was Dr. Clark. The others rode horseback. Dr.

John B. Johnson was of Massachusetts birth and of Harvard education. He came

from the position of house surgeon of the Massachusetts General hospital to

enter practice at St. Louis. A man of splendid appearance and fine manners, Dr.

Johnson obtained almost immediately a professional standing among the leading

families. One of his earliest friends was Theron Barnum, who kept the City

hotel in the days when the leading hotelkeeper of St. Louis ranked close to the

mayor in public estimation. It was said of Dr. Johnson that for many years he

did not send a bill for services, relying upon his patients to come around and

settle when they felt so disposed. 




Dr. Moses M. Fallen, the head of

the Fallen family in St. Louis, was a Virginian by birth, educated at the

University of Virginia. He practiced in Vicksburg several years before coming

to St. Louis in 1842. He was a student of the sciences as well as a physician

and was one of the coterie which gave high character to the St. Louis Academy

of Science in its early days. 




From Prague, in Bohemia, came to

St. Louis, in 1845, a highly educated specialist in the person of Dr. Simon

Pollak. He had already given study to the branch of medicine which was to place

him among the leaders in ophthalmology. Joining the coterie of physicians and

surgeons who had established the dispensary, Dr. Pollak pioneered the way for

what has become one of the city's most beneficial institutions. In 1852, Dr.

Pollak started the movement which by private subscriptions founded the Missouri

Institution for the Education of the Blind. This was supported five years by

the contributions of citizens and was then made a State institution. 




In 1845, according to the Medical

and Surgical Journal published here, St. Louis had 146 "persons who are

endeavoring to obtain a livelihood by the practice of the healing art in this

city, which includes the homeopathists, botanies, Thompsonians, etc." The

population was 40,000. There was a doctor of some kind for 274 people. The

Journal stated that about one-third of these doctors enjoyed lucrative practice

and that many of the others were leaving and settling in surrounding towns. 




Distinguished among the writers

on medical subjects in this country was Dr. R. S. Holmes, a native of

Pittsburg, who left the position of army surgeon to make his home in St. Louis

about 1849. Dr. Holmes not only contributed a great deal that attracted

attention in medical literature but he became widely known as a magazine and newspaper

contributor. He popularized subjects more or less connected with his

profession. He wrote on "Beauty," "Use of the Hair Among the

Ancients," and like topics. He contributed "Sketches of American

Character." His great work in his profession was his study and treatment

of malignant, climatic fevers. He led in the use of large doses of quinine to

overcome malaria. Visiting Europe he brought home to St. Louis the finest

microscope that had been seen here and entered upon minute researches with the

powerful lens. 




The medical profession of St.

Louis early became composite as to nationality and as to education. One of the

German patriots of 1848 who became prominent in the medical profession of St.

Louis was Dr. G. Fischer. Edward Montgomery from near Belfast, Ireland, settled

in St. Louis in 1849 to practice medicine. He became widely known as a writer

on medical subjects. About the same time, three other young men established

themselves as physicians in St. Louis, coming from widely separated parts of the

world. Louis Ch. Boisliniere was from the Island of Guadeloupe, descended from

one of the oldest families of that West Indian paradise. He had been educated

in France, had traveled extensively in South America and had been for some time

a guest of Henry Clay and other eminent Kentuckians before he chose St. Louis

as his permanent home. Under the auspices of the Sisters of Charity Dr.

Boisliniere took prominent part in giving St. Louis the honor of establishing

the first lying-in hospital and foundling asylum in the United States. He was

the first physician to hold the office of coroner in St. Louis. That was in

1858. Dr. Boisliniere's recreation was singing. He delighted in classical music

and those who heard him in the rendition of church masses never forgot the

fervor with which he sang. Dr. F. Ernst. Baumgarten began to practice in St.

Louis contemporaneously with Dr. Boisliniere. He was from the kingdom of

Hanover and had edited a surgical journal in German before he came to St.

Louis. He became one of the founders of the German Medical society of St.

Louis, a very strong professional organization. The third of these young

doctors was Thomas O'Reilly, who came from County Cavan, Ireland, with the best

medical education that Dublin could give him. All of his life in St. Louis he

was devoted to the political advancement of his native island. 




The Hotel for Invalids was the

name chosen for a private hospital started in the Paul house at Second and

Walnut streets in the summer of 1848. The institution was short lived. 




Strikingly unlike his preceptor,

McDowell, was John Thompson Hodgen. who was born in a rugged part of Kentucky

near the birthplace of Abraham Lincoln. After he graduated under McDowell, Dr.

Hodgen became first demonstrator and then professor in the institution. When

the war came and McDowell's college was turned into a military prison, Hodgen

was chosen surgeon-general for the Western Sanitary commission. Later he was

surgeon-general for the state of Missouri. He tried to keep alive the old

medical school but finally joined the faculty of the St. Louis Medical college.

The American Medical association drew upon the St. Louis profession repeatedly

to fill the office of president. One of those drafted was Dr. Hodgen. 




The beloved surgeon of St. Louis

in 1870-80 was John T. Hodgen. He used but few words. He accepted no

familiarity. Addressed as "Doc," he would respond, "If you want

me to answer you politely, don't call me 'Doc.' There is no such word. Call me

'Doctor' and there will be no trouble, but I will not answer to the call of

'Doc.' " And no man once receiving this rebuke required another warning.

Dr. Hodgen could put an astonishing effect into his few words. His assertions

uttered before his students were remembered and quoted for years afterwards.

One who studied under him, said: "He could say 'I don't know,' in such a

manner as to convey the idea that there was a profundity of knowledge back of

it." 




Men of strong sympathy, fine

sensibilities and great charity have ennobled the medical profession of St.

Louis. It is told of Dr. Hodgen that in driving up to the residence of a

patient, where the case was desperate, he would sometimes say to the one with

him: "Look out and see if crape is on the door. I am afraid to look."

If crape was on the door the doctor drove on quickly; if not, Dr. Hodgen was

out of the buggy in a hurry and with a bright face, his lips forming for a

pleasant little whistle showing the pleasure he felt, he went into the house. 




Students of Dr. Moses M. Fallen,

a member of an old Virginia family, who came to St. Louis in 1842, were given

an impression of professional obligation which was far more than scientific.

Dr. Fallen held the professorship of obstetrics for more than twenty years. He

taught thousands of students "that the doctor when at the bedside of the

woman in labor almost meets his God, and that duty, the stern daughter of God,

must be evoked every moment and hour in her travail. Give your strength to the

laboring mother. Fill her with hope; it may be light diet but it will be very

stimulating; it awakens courage. If the doctor ever is at the service of any

one he must be at the absolute service of the lying-in woman. Be thoughtful of

her in her agony of pain. Encouragement is everything. It well becomes God's

most exalted creature. To relieve distress is not only human but it is Godlike;

and thrice blessed is that man who relieves a single maternal pain." That

was the character of Dr. Fallen's teaching as one of his pupils, Dr. Warren B.

Outten, described it long years after his own graduation. 




The medical profession of St.

Louis before the Civil war drew upon Kentucky born men for some of its

strongest characters. Besides Joseph Nash McDowell and M. L. Linton, John T.

Hodgen, E. H. Gregory and E. S. Frazier were from Kentucky stock. Dr. Moses L.

Linton came from Kentucky in k 1842. A graduate of Transylvania University,

perfected in his profession by study abroad, he had a short time before moving

to St. Louis announced his conversion to the Roman Catholic faith. Then had

ensued a sharp controversy between Rev. Robert Grundy, a distinguished

Presbyterian minister, and Dr. Linton, running through a series of pamphlets

and attracting a great deal of attention. Dr. Linton wrote with much spirit and

in an attractive style. The high standard of medical education in St. Louis

owes a great deal to that farmer's son in Kentucky. Dr. Linton took a course in

Europe at a time when few American doctors did that. He was associated in his

studies abroad part of the time with Dr. Charles A. Pope. That association had

much to do with Dr. Linton's decision to settle in St. Louis, where he was

invited to take a chair in the faculty of the medical department of St. Louis

University. The St. Louis Medical Journal, established in 1843, owed its

beginning to Dr. Linton more than to anyone else. Dr. McPheeters was associated

with Dr. Linton in the editorial management of the Journal. "Outlines of

Pathology" was the title of one of the first medical books published by an

author west of the Mississippi. In that book Dr. Linton gave to the profession

what served for students in the way of general instruction many years. 




Between 1850 and 1860 St. Louis

began to produce her own professors. One of the first of these was Dr. T. L.

Papin, a descendant of the founder of the settlement. In 1852 he became a

member of the faculty in the Missouri Medical college. The greater part of his

career he was a teacher of medicine. St. John's Hospital owed its origin to Dr.

Papin and the connection of the medical college with the hospital was largely

brought about by him. The Nidelets, James C. and Sylvester, were descended from

the Pratte family. They completed their education in St. Louis and entered the

medical profession here. The father of the Nidelets was of San Domingo birth,

but of French descent. He was Stephen F. Nidelet. He came to this country while

a boy and became a merchant of Philadelphia. While on a visit to St. Louis he

made the acquaintance of Celeste E. Pratte, a daughter of General Bernard

Pratte and a belle of the decade of 1820-1830. Marriage followed. Some years

afterwards the Nidelets removed from Philadelphia to St. Louis and made this

their home. 




Dr. E. H. Gregory, born, bred and

educated in Kentucky, joined the profession at St. Louis in 1852. He became the

surgeon-in-chief of the Sisters' Hospital. That was the first hospital west of

the Mississippi. Sister Francis Xavier, with three other members of the order

of Sisters of Charity, which had been founded at Emmitsburg, Maryland, in 1809,

came to St. Louis in 1828 and started the hospital in a modest way on a strip

of ground 100 feet wide running from Fourth to Third street along the south

side of Spruce. The lot was a donation for the purpose by John Mullanphy, who

set a fine pace for philanthropy in St. Louis soon after the American flag was

hoisted. The first building was small. It left room for an orchard and a

garden. The institution grew until crowding commerce prompted removal, July,

1874, to a large block of ground on Montgomery street east of Grand avenue.

Around him Dr. Gregory gathered a staff composed of such specialists as N. B.

Carson, Paul Y. Tupper, S. Pollak, W. C. Glasgow, L. L. McCabe. 




The German patriots, who added

elements of great influence to the population of St. Louis, included some

characters born to make war on the existing order whether in politics or in the

professions. One of these was Dr. Adam Hammer. He was a man of medium height,

slender, sallow. Below a high round forehead were a long sharp thin nose and a

pointed chin, emphasized by chin whiskers. Dr. Hammer had keen black eyes.

Members of the profession said Dr. Hammer looked like the pictures of Harvey,

who discovered the circulation of the blood. Hammer had been well educated in

German universities. He came here with considerable reputation as a surgeon. He

had performed some wonderful operations. So long as he resided in St. Louis he

was the chief figure in frequent professional disputes. At the meetings of the

Medical society, Dr. Hammer could be depended upon to start something before

the evening was over. These scenes at last became so disagreeable to the other

members that the presence of the reporters was dispensed with. Dr. Hammer was

for a time the dean of the Humboldt Medical college, which was located opposite

the city hospital. Afterwards he was offered a chair in the faculty of the

Missouri Medical college. It was something of a relief to the profession in St.

Louis when Dr. Hammer, after dividing his time between this country and

Germany, decided to take up his permanent residence in the fatherland. 




To the third generation of a

family of medical practitioners in St. Louis belonged Dr. John Charles

Lebrecht. His father was Dr. John Lebrecht. The grandfather on the maternal

side was Dr. Valentine Ludwig. John M. Youngblood was of Tennessee birth. He

was southern in type but like many other St. Louisans who came from Southern

states, especially Tennessee and Kentucky, he took the Union side. When he went

back to his native state during the war, he was the surgeon of a Missouri

regiment of United States volunteers. After the war Dr. Youngblood's practice

included free service to a great many poor people. When he died in 1879 there was

presented the touching scene of his office thronged with men, women and

children who had been befriended by him. 




The grandfather of Dr. Mordecai

Yarnall, although of old Quaker stock, fought under Commodore Perry and helped

to gain the victory on Lake Erie. For his gallantry New York and Pennsylvania

gave Lieutenant Yarnell medals and Virginia bestowed upon him a sword. After

service in the Confederate army with Stonewall Jackson, Mordecai Yarnall came

to St. Louis and joined the medical profession. Dr. Adolphus Schlossstein came

to St. Louis in 1867, with not only the classical education of the gymnasium,

but after having taken courses at several universities; he was fresh from study

in the hospitals and practice as a surgeon in the German army. He practiced his

profession and at the same time became interested with his brother, George

Schlossstein, in the manufacture of window glass. The Schlossstein family was

of Bavarian descent. 




In the decade of 1880-1890 a new

generation took up the traditions and carried forward the prestige of the

medical profession of St. Louis. Medical education for which St. Louis had won

widespread fame was still farther advanced. The St. Louis Post-Graduate School

of Medicine, the first institution of the kind in the country, was established.

Its purpose was to encourage the graduate to go on with his study and

researches. A moving spirit in this development was Herman Tuholske, who had

come from his home in Berlin, with a classical education in the gymnasium to

enter upon professional life in St. Louis not long after the Civil war.

Graduating from the Missouri Medical college, Dr. Tuholske perfected himself by

study in the schools of London and the European capitals. He attracted much

attention by the reforms he instituted as the physician in charge of the St.

Louis dispensary. He went through epidemics with credit for his personal

courage and professional skill. When he began to agitate the movement for

advance in the standard of medical education in St. Louis he was joined by such

men as Robinson, Michel, Steele, Hardaway, Glasgow, Spencer, Fischell and

Engelmann. In response to this St. Louis movement the State of Missouri

required three years' attendance upon lectures for license to practice. 




St. Louis had at one time eleven

medical colleges. Going east in 1893 to address the alumni of a medical

college, the then chancellor of Washington University, Dr. W. S. Chaplin, gave

this testimony to the progressiveness of medical education in St. Louis: 




 




Some thirty years ago the faculty

of one of these medical schools formed an organization which was a hard and

fast agreement that they would turn over every dollar of profit to a fund, put

it out of their control entirely and devote that fund to furthering medical

education. As a result of this they built one of the very best educational

buildings I know of. It has large laboratories; it has splendid lecture rooms.

It has every feature of the most modern methods of teaching. And that has been

built and equipped out of the self-sacrifice of members of the medical

profession. I believe it is a lone example of such self-sacrifice. I know of no

other profession that can boast of such an example; nor do I know of any other

school in the medical profession that can show it. 




 




Upon Dr. John Green, the

chancellor bestowed, in large measure, the credit or the movement. 




The St. Louis College of

Physicians and Surgeons came into existence in 1879. The movement was of

considerable strength and resulted in the erection of a modern college building.

The Beaumont Medical college cultivated close relations with hospitals, the

Alexian, St. Mary's and the Missouri Pacific. It had its origin with a group of

younger members of the profession, desiring to spread the benefits of hospital

experience. Marion-Sims Medical college was Upstarted in 1890 and the Rebecca

hospital was established in connection with it. The Barnes Medical college was

inaugurated with a board of trustees including some of the most prominent

citizens of St. Louis. For this institution was erected a handsome five-story

building on Garrison avenue and Chestnut street, very complete in appointments.

The medical colleges of St. Louis have for several years graduated from 600 to

750 students annually. 




Alfred Heacock, who came from

Pennsylvania, after a few years' practice in Ohio and Indiana, lived to be the

oldest practitioner in St. Louis. When he was eighty years of age, the St.

Louis Medical society made him a member for life without payment of dues. In

earlier years before the days of railroads, Dr. Heacock crossed the Mississippi

by the upper ferry and attended patients in the American bottom and as far east

as Collinsville, making the travel on horseback. 




At a meeting of the Alumni

Association of the Missouri Medical college, Professor C. O. Curtman, in 1895,

introduced the X-ray discovery to the medical profession of St. Louis. 




The surgeon-general who developed

the Marine Hospital Service into its latter day importance was born in St.

Louis. General Walter Wyman, son of Professor Edward Wyman, graduated at

Amherst and at the St. Louis Medical college. He entered the Marine Hospital

service as an assistant surgeon in charge of the St. Louis Marine hospital in

1876 and almost immediately began to attract more than local attention by his

efforts to improve the conditions of the deck hands of western rivers. Congress

was prompted by the movement which General Wyman fostered to pass a law for the

better treatment of deckhands. Then came the enlargement of the Marine Hospital

service to meet the problems of epidemics with government authority – first

cholera, then yellow fever and plague. To General Wyman's fearlessness and

intelligence the country has owed its escape from threatened visitations of

contagious diseases. The surgeon-general's successful conduct of the service

encouraged Congress to transfer, step by step, to this department the various

government functions relating to the public health. The quarantine system grew

into its effective status under General Wyman's investigations and

recommendations. With the Spanish-American war, the service came into greatly

increased responsibilities. It was extended over Cuba and Porto Rico. General

Wyman aimed at control of the yellow fever situation in the West Indies and he

achieved it. He promoted the establishment of a great sanitarium for the

treatment of consumptives on the plains of New Mexico. The extension of

American influence in the Pacific brought the study of leprosy, and of the

bubonic plague within his jurisdiction. The greatest public health officer in

the world today is a St. Louisan, born and bred. 




The first successful operation of

the Caesarean section performed in St. Louis or Missouri is credited to Dr. A.

C. Bernays. This was in 1889. Dr. Bernays was a young man, in the thirties. He

was the first American to receive at Heidelberg the degree of Doctor of

Medicine "Summa cum laude." He became famous internationally for the

originality of his surgical operations, many of which were classed as daring by

the profession. His surgical experiences he published in a series of pamphlets

bearing the title, "Chips from a Surgeon's Workshop." 




"The students' friend,"

Dr. Robert Luedeking was called. He was a native St. Louisan. When he died in

1908, at the age of fifty-five, he had honored his profession and his city. The

title bestowed upon him had been earned by his devotion to the cause of medical

education. Dr. Luedeking received the very best of advantages at Heidelberg. He

endeavored to advance the standards in his teaching which began with a

professorship in the St. Louis Medical college and was concluded with several

years of invaluable service as dean of the medical department of Washington

University. Dr. Luedeking was more than an instructor, he was the adviser and

helper of the young men who came to St. Louis to prepare themselves for the

profession. Through Dr. Luedeking's efforts and influence, Adolphus Busch was

inspired to lend his aid to the material increase of facilities for instruction

in St. Louis –facilities which placed this city with the best of centers of

medical education. 




The most notable forward stride

in medical education was taken by St. Louis in 1910. Washington University,

through the president, Robert S. Brookings, and the chancellor, David F.

Houston, announced the reorganization of the Medical Department in connection

with a group of new hospitals. The plans contemplated expenditure of $5,000,000

for grounds, buildings and endowments. The initial impetus to this movement was

given by contributions amounting to more than $2,000,000 by W. K. Bixby,

Adolphus Busch, Edward Mallinckrodt and Robert S. Brookings. The inspiration of

the plans was succinctly stated in this paragraph from the formal announcement

by the Corporation of Washington University: 




 




The greatest natural resource

that any community has consists of its men and women, and there is no resource

which so much needs conservation or whose conservation has been so much

neglected in its larger aspects. It is difficult to see how any other

educational department can so directly and profoundly influence the welfare of

a great community as an effective medical department; and while other

departments, such as agriculture, college and educational divisions have been

fairly well developed, medical departments everywhere, not only in the West,

but throughout the nation, have been comparatively neglected. 




 




In May, 1911, the sites had been

secured; the architects' plans for the buildings were ready. Chancellor Houston

made this definite announcement: 




 




St. Louis is to have a new,

thoroughly efficient, modern general hospital, a new children 's hospital and a

great, modern medical school. This is no dream; it is a reality. The school is

in operation, with its reorganized staff and largely increased facilities. All

obstacles to the prosecution of the hospital plans have been removed, and the

erection of buildings will be begun as soon as the details have been perfected.

The three institutions will work in the closest affiliation and, as far as

service goes, will be one. 




The three institutions will

occupy adjoining tracts of land beautifully located at the east end of Forest

Park, east and west of Euclid avenue, south of the Wabash railroad. The tract

has a double front on Forest Park, and it would be difficult to find a more

convenient or beautiful location in St. Louis. The site is sufficiently removed

from the smoke of the city, yet sufficiently near the mass of population to

make access easy. 




On the tract will be erected

the Robert A. Barnes Memorial General Hospital, with a building for a training

school for nurses, the new building for the St. Louis Children's Hospital and

an entirely equipped home for Washington University Medical School, consisting

of a clinical building in close proximity to the hospitals, a pathological

laboratory building, a laboratory building for biological chemistry,

physiology, pharmacology and preventive medicine, a building for the anatomical

department and a power plant for common service. 




The Robert A. Barnes Memorial

Hospital, facing south, will at the outset contain approximately 300 beds, with

all the most modern arrangements not only for administrative service, but for

scientific efficiency. The building and equipment will cost about a million

dollars, and the hospital will begin work with at least a million dollars of

endowment. It will be of modern, fireproof construction and will be as perfect

for its purpose as the best architect and the best hospital expert in America

can make it. 




The St. Louis Children's

Hospital, of adequate size and of equally modern construction, will be located

on the southwestern corner of the tract, fronting on Forest Park, with a

southwestern exposure. When completed it will be filled with patients at the

time remaining in the present Children's Hospital, which is now working in

affiliation with the Washington University Medical School. 




The clinical and laboratory

buildings of Washington University Medical School, with' their equipment, will

cost in the neighborhood of $1,000,000, and to them, when they are completed,

will be transferred the laboratories and the recently greatly extended

equipment contained in the present university medical buildings. 




The buildings of the three

affiliated institutions, with their equipment, will therefore represent an

investment of more than two and a quarter millions of dollars, and the operating

expenses of the three will represent the income of a capital in excess of three

million dollars. 




 




The Academy of Medical and

Surgical Sciences was one of the forms that the motive to raise the standard of

the profession of medicine took. This association was formed in 1895 by Drs.

James M. Hall, Wellington Adams, Emory Lamphear and others. 




The coming of the Alexian

Brotherhood to St. Louis was just fifty years ago. Five members of this order

arrived here in 1869 to establish a monastery and a hospital. The institution

has grown to possess buildings which cost $250,000, in which 1,500 patients are

cared for yearly. 




Dr. John T. Temple, a Virginian

by birth, a graduate in medicine of the University of Maryland, introduced the

practice of Homeopathy in St. Louis in 1844. He participated in the founding of

the Homeopathic Medical college of Missouri in 1857. Dr. J. T. Vastine came

from Pennsylvania in 1849. His son, Dr. Charles Vastine, succeeded him. A

homeopathic physician who early achieved general acquaintance in St. Louis was

Dr. Thomas Griswold Comstock. He was descended from one of the Mayflower

families which settled in Connecticut. Dr. Comstock studied and graduated in

1849 at the St. Louis Medical college. In 1851 he went to Philadelphia and studied

Homeopathy. He practiced a short time in St. Louis and then went to Europe,

where he spent several years in the medical schools of the continent. Returning

to St. Louis in 1857. Dr. Comstock, while classed as a homeopathic physician,

was an independent practitioner. He was early recognized as one of the most

learned and best read men in the medical profession of the city. He was perhaps

the most proficient linguist here for years. The Comstock residence, on

Fourteenth and Washington avenue, contained some of the choicest works of art

as well as one of the finest private libraries in St. Louis. Riding behind one

of the best carriage teams of the city was Dr. Comstock's recreation. 




Dr. Augustus H. Schott was an

infant in arms when his parents left Hanover, Germany, in 1851, to come to

America. He was educated at Shurtleff college and at the Homeopathic Medical

College of Missouri. After several years' practice at Alton he came to St.

Louis and soon after took a professorship in the Homeopathic Medical college.

Dr. E. C. Franklin came from Dubuque, Iowa, in 1857, and soon after joined the

coterie engaged in carrying on the Homeopathic college. About the same time Dr.

William Tod Helmuth came from Philadelphia. Helmuth, a dozen years later, went

from St. Louis to become famous as a surgeon in New York. Franklin joined the

faculty of the Homeopathic medical department of the University of Michigan.

Dr. George S. Walker was of Pennsylvania birth. He did not become a homeopathic

practitioner until eight years after he made his residence in St. Louis in

1852. 




The Eclectic school of medicine

in 1873 founded the American Medical college. The leaders in the movement were

George C. Pitzer, John W. Thrailkill, Jacob S. Merrell, Albert Merrell and W.

V. Rutledge. The college graduated about 1,000 students. 




Dentists began to announce their

presence in St. Louis within two years after the first newspaper was published.

One of them advertised in 1809 that he was prepared to do "extracting,

cleaning, plugging and strengthening the teeth." With the coming of Dr.

Isaiah Forbes in 1837 the dental profession took on a new character. The year

after he came Dr. Forbes constructed upon plans of his own a dental chair which

was a great improvement on those in use. A dental society was formed. A dental

journal was published. St. Louis dentists advanced new ideas and invented new

methods. Dr. John S. Clark of St. Louis was one of the first, if not the first,

in the country to use rolled cylinders of gold foil for filling teeth. 




One of the most noted fathers of

the dental profession in St. Louis was Henry J. McKellops, a New Yorker, who

came here in 1840. He was a page in the Missouri Legislature and with the money

thus earned attended the State University at Columbia. He became famous in his

profession all over the world as the introducer of that instrument of torture –

the mallet – to pound into solidity the fillings. That was over fifty years

ago. At the time, the profession was not organized. Dr. McKellops led in a

movement which established national, state and local associations of dentists

throughout the country. In his years of travel and investigation he assembled

what was regarded as the most complete dental library in the world. 




The Morrisons, brothers, became

noted among dentists in 1870-80. Dr. James Morrison invented a dental chair of

iron with a wonderful range of motions, which came into quite general use. He

devoted a great deal of attention to a dental engine. William N. Morrison

contributed to the science of dentistry some valuable ideas in crown work. 




The Missouri Dental college was

organized in 1866. It required the students to take certain regular courses of

study in a medical college in addition to the dental course. Other dental

colleges adopted this St. Louis idea. Dr. Forbes was the first president of the

dental college. Down to the present day the dental profession of St. Louis has

maintained the progressive spirit and the high standards which characterized

these pioneers. In 1909 the American Dental association, the organization

representing the profession throughout the country, looked to St. Louis for a

president – electing to that high position Dr. Burton Lee Thorpe, not only a

practitioner of repute but a contributor of national reputation to the

literature of the profession. 




Cancer is an ailment people do

not like to talk about. In the winter of 1905 a St. Louis physician who was

shut in with the grippe received a visit from two fellow practitioners.

Conversation rather curiously drifted to the depressing topic of cancer. All

three doctors were men with wide experience. They knew that cancer was one of

the diseases which the usual hospital management does not welcome and for which

facilities of treatment are not possessed by many institutions. They told experiences

with cases where cancer patients were poor and where neglect in the earlier

stages had meant a lingering death. The three doctors agreed that there was

nothing St. Louis needed more, with its variety of eleemosynary institutions,

than a free cancer hospital. When the case of grippe reached the convalescent

stage, these doctors got together a small group of public spirited men and

women in the parlors of Mrs. J. M. Franciscus. They went over the ground. They

offered all of the medical service free, providing the laity would do the rest.






The next step, in February, 1905,

was a little gathering in the offices of the Third National Bank. Those present

were Charles H. Huttig, who became president of the organization formed, W. J.

Kinsella, J. M. Franciscus, John Schroers, Doctors W. E. Fischel, H. G. Mudd,

M. F. Engman, and George Gellhorn. 




Then followed a canvass to see if

five years of experiment would be justified. Some people gave cash

contributions and others pledged themselves to annual payments for five years.

It was agreed that "if a five years' test of our plans proves them

impracticable, or at least not productive of the results desired, we should

then be willing to close the establishment." 




In 1910 the patients in the

rented building were moved into a building owned by the association and

equipped with facilities not only for treatment, but for research work upon

skin and cancer diseases. 




There is no other skin and cancer

hospital in the United States which in laboratory, in wards, in operating

rooms, in provision for clinics can compare with the St. Louis institution.

Grounds and building and equipment represent $175,000. The management has

undertaken to provide an endowment of $500,000 for maintenance and, in 1911,

had raised more than one-third of the amount. 




The temporary quarters for the

five years' experiment provided beds for only a limited number of patients.

Such was the pressure that some had to be accommodated with cots. The permanent

hospital takes care of more than twice the number who could be accommodated in

the temporary hospital. During the five years of trial no patient was permitted

to pay anything. The doctors redeemed at par their promises to give service

absolutely free. They agreed to continue to serve in the new hospital at the

same rate, and the management proclaims that the rule of no pay from patients

will be adhered to. Grounds and building were the gift of one man – George D.

Barnard. The new hospital is known as "the George D. Barnard Free Skin and

Cancer Hospital." 




No institution in the world is

better prepared than the new Barnard hospital to do pathological work. Even

during the experimental or temporary period of five years the hospital

accomplished results which attracted attention not only in this country but

abroad. Notably has this been the case in the acetone treatment, which

originated with a member of the staff of the St. Louis institution. This

treatment is now generally accepted by the medical profession in the United

States and in other countries as the best method of treating a certain class of

cases. 




When representatives of the

Barnard Hospital went abroad they were welcomed and shown great consideration

by such men as Dr. Basham of the London Cancer Hospital, which is the largest

institution of the kind, and by Professor Czerny, who has given up a

professorship of surgery at Heidelberg to devote himself to cancer research,

endowing the hospital for cancer treatment at Heidelberg with $100,000. At Berlin

the representatives of the Barnard Hospital were shown special courtesies and

their work commented upon. One of the new ideas which has been tried with

remarkable results in the St. Louis institution is the "fulguration"

treatment. This consists in the application of a direct spark of electricity

upon the surface of the cancer. The apparatus for the application was obtained

in Europe by Doctor Frank J. Lutz, and was presented by him to the x-ray

department of the Barnard Hospital. 


















 




 




CHAPTER XVIII. THE PRODUCTIVE COMMERCE




 




"The culture of hemp has

occupied the attention of our farmers, and a rope-walk will shortly be erected

in this town. Thus we have commenced the manufacture of such articles as will

attract thousands of dollars to our territory; thus we will progress in freeing

John Bull and Jack Ass of the trouble of manufacturing for us." – Missouri

Gazette, March, 1809. 




 




A century ago the first

newspaper, when not nine months old, began to urge the importance of home

manufactures upon St. Louis. "Manifest destiny" was a favorite theme

with writers, but the men who made St. Louis never overlooked the importance of

supplementing natural advantages with enterprise. In the early days the

supremacy of the settlement, town and city depended upon distributive commerce.

St. Louis was a distributing center. Fortunes were made and the city waxed rich

and powerful through the bringing of all kinds of manufactured products and

their distribution to great and growing sections of the country. But the

permanence of St. Louis' prosperity, the enduring growth of traffic, came with

a new character. As productive commerce became more and more important St.

Louis was built for the generations to come. 




In its issue of January 31, 1811,

the Missouri Gazette announced: "An event not viewed as of public

importance itself may yet be highly interesting from the reflections to which

it gives rise. An English gentleman, Mr. Bridge, of considerable capital,

arrived here on Tuesday evening last, with his family, for the purpose of establishing

himself in this place. We understand he has brought with him the machinery of a

cotton factory and two merino rams. Such an immigrant is an important

acquisition to the country." 




The water power mill on

Chouteau's pond ran without competition for years. A saw mill was established

at the foot of Ashley street, on the ground overlooking the river. It was the

first saw mill west of the Mississippi. In connection with it the owner,

Sylvester Labbadie, operated a grist mill. The power was a tread mill on which

patient oxen walked slowly, by their weight making the wheel go around. The age

of steam had not arrived for St. Louis. Manuel Lisa, at a later period,

ventured some of his profits, made at fur trading, in a mill on the river bank.

Slowly but surely St. Louisans of the old and new stock felt their way into the

industrial field. 




When St. Louis became a town the

north boundary was described as "beginning at Antoine Roy's mill, on the

bank of the Mississippi." Years afterwards the landmark was called

"Roy's tower." Tradition had it that the tower was built as part of

the fortification of St. Louis. The great, circular, stone tower stood on the

river bank, above high water, at a point between Morgan and Ashley streets. The

tradition that the tower was built for military purposes seems to rest on the

similarity to Spanish construction of that character. Truth of history seems to

be that the tower was inspired by industrial activity in St. Louis. Antoine Roy

was one of the pioneer millers. He operated by wind power. His was probably the

first wind-mill built in St. Louis. The great arms projected from the stone

tower in such a manner as to catch the full strength of the wind blowing up the

river. St. Louis had two other mills at that time – Auguste Chouteau's

and Gregoire Sarpy's – but they were run by water. Antoine Roy was one

of the well-to-do citizens of St. Louis. His name appears on the first tax list

made after the American flag was raised. The valuation put upon his holdings

was $3,000. The tower was still standing in the days of the daguerreotype,

forty years after it was first listed by an American assessor. It was one of

the most interesting relics of St. Louis when the picture was taken, about

1847. Antoine Roy was also known as Roi. He was twice married, first to

Felicite Vasquez and later to Mary Louise Papin. 




In 1815, the 11th of November,

Christian Smith informed the people of St. Louis that on the next evening

"the first batch" of crackers and biscuits would be "drawn"

from his "bake shop," and the citizens were "invited to send and

make trial." The town had been incorporated about six years when the

trustees passed an ordinance that "no loaf of bread shall be vended at a

price greater than twelve and one-half cents." 




The Grimsleys were Virginia

people, a large family of them. Nimrod Grimsley, the head of the Kentucky branch,

moved to that state. Thornton Grimsley was not born until after the family

settled in Kentucky. He came out to St. Louis in charge of a stock of goods

while he was still apprenticed to a saddlery manufacturer at home. That was in

1816, when Thornton Grimsley was eighteen years of age. When he reached the age

of twenty-one and the end of his apprenticeship he took six months of schooling

with the proceeds of extra work done by him during his apprenticeship. At the

end of that time he became the representative of his employer in charge of the

St. Louis branch, and three years later he went into business here for himself.

Recognizing the demand which must come in the southwest for what he knew most

about, Grimsley opened a small saddlery shop. He invented the dragoon saddle.

The government adopted the Grimsley saddle, and for many years would have no

other. Grimsley's saddle factory became one of the institutions of the west. It

did more government work than any other factory in the country. Thornton Grimsley

was of striking appearance. He was of large frame and wore side whiskers at a

time when that style was exceptional. In the brilliant militia uniforms of the

period his figure was imposing. There was rarely a great celebration in St.

Louis during the second quarter of the century, with which Thornton Grimsley

was not associated as grand marshal. 




James Richardson, who came from

Virginia much earlier than Grimsley's arrival, and settled north of the city,

was a saddler. He constructed a side saddle and presented it to one of the

Spanish governors for his wife. The governor was so well pleased that he gave

Richardson a grant of a thousand arpents of land. 




The French habitants of St. Louis

raised tobacco in their common fields. Tobacco was manufactured in only crude

forms until after the American occupation. In 1817 Richards & Quarles had

"a tobacco manufactory" on the cross street nearly opposite the post-office.

About 1840 the newspapers spoke of tobacco as "another item of our trade

which is swelling every year into much greater importance." Missouri was

raising 9,000 hogsheads of tobacco in 1841 and sending all but 500 hogsheads to

St. Louis. As a tobacco market St. Louis grew until the receipts in 1876

reached 29,204 hogsheads. 




The Catlin family had much to do

with the development of the tobacco industry. The first of the St. Louis

Catlins came from Connecticut and brought with him a valuable knowledge about

the manufacture. He was Dan Catlin. He established in North St. Louis a factory

which was one of the most important local industries of its day, 1840. Dan

Catlin had two sons, Daniel and Ephron, both children when the family moved

from Litchfield. Daniel Catlin grew into the management of the tobacco

manufacturing, and taught other St. Louis manufacturers how much there is in

putting products with attractive brands on the market. The Catlin tobacco

company expanded into an institution giving employment to more than 400 people.

Ephron Catlin, three years younger than Daniel, chose the drug business in preference

to tobacco manufacturing. The brothers, both men of splendid physiques, were

conspicuous in a community where stalwart young manhood was not exceptional.

They married sisters, Misses Justina and Camilla Kayser, daughters of Henry

Kayser, one of the foremost civil engineers of the west. 




Christopher Foulks came from New

Jersey about 1820, with a knowledge of tobacco manufacture. He became one of

the pioneers in that industry. Joseph Liggett was a Londonderry man who settled

in St. Louis and married Elizabeth Foulks, daughter of the pioneer tobacco

manufacturer. The son, John Edmund Liggett, was born in St. Louis in 1826. He

was one of the pupils of David H. Armstrong in the first public school of St.

Louis, and afterwards attended Kemper college in the southwestern part of the

city. At eighteen, John E. Liggett left school to go into the tobacco factory

of Foulks and Shaw. The head of the house was his grandfather. The junior

partner was his stepfather. When the grandfather retired, the grandson became a

partner, and the firm was Hiram Shaw & Company. A brother, W. C. L.

Liggett, bought out Mr. Shaw, and the new style was J. E. Liggett and Brother.

Henry Dausman bought out the brother after five years. The tobacco

manufacturing went on, growing under Liggett and Dausman. In 1873 George S.

Meyers bought out Dausman. Hiram Shaw Liggett, son of John E. Liggett, grew

into the business. Through four generations the plant grew into one of the

great industries not alone of St. Louis but of the country. A vast fortune was

built up with the profits of carefully conducted manufacturing. In the family

through the generations was always a devotion to the cause of education which

found expression in princely gifts to institutions. 




Before the Civil war St. Louis

was selling manufactured tobacco in every state and territory of the United

States. The Lewis brothers, who started in Glasgow, Missouri, in 1837, had ten

years later removed to St. Louis, and developed greatly their business, keeping

a branch at Glasgow. They manufactured annually millions of pounds of fine cut

and plug. They exported to Europe as well as supplied a home market, which

included all of this country. Twenty years after the war St. Louis had become

the second largest tobacco manufacturing center, being surpassed only by Jersey

City. In 1908 St. Louis was maintaining the position it had held for years as

"the place where more tobacco is manufactured annually than in any other

place in the world." That year of depression in some industries showed an

increase in the products of St. Louis tobacco factories to 75,750,000 pounds,

as compared with the 65,980,000 pounds of 1907. The product of the six tobacco

manufacturing establishments of St. Louis in 1907 was valued at $21,127,654. In

1910 the volume of the" tobacco business of St. Louis was reported by the

Business Men's league to. be $50,000,000. 




The Drummonds were of Scotch

ancestry. James Drummond was born in Scotland. He was a soldier in the

Revolution. His son Harrison moved west from Virginia and settled on a farm in

St. Charles county. James T. Drummond was born in St. Louis in 1834. His

brother, John Newton Drummond, was born on the St. Charles county farm two

years later. While they were young men, the Drummonds became interested in

tobacco manufacture. John Newton Drummond left the farm to work in a factory.

James T. Drummond, after teaching school and after being a traveling salesman

for his father-in-law, James Tatum, put his savings into a small tobacco

factory at Alton about the beginning of the Civil war. His brother joined him.

After the removal to St. Louis, the business grew to immense proportions. 




Sam Gaty was an orphan eleven

years old when, taking an old shot gun which had been his father's, he left the

people with whom he had been placed, made his way to Louisville and bound

himself as an apprentice in a foundry. When he had learned the trade, with a

companion named Morton, he came to St. Louis. That was in 1828. Martin Thomas

had the foundry of the city and James Newell was the expert blacksmith. McQueen

was managing the foundry. Gaty and Morton asked for work. McQueen refused to

hire them, saying he must have competent men and was going to get them from New

York. The steamboat Jubilee, fortunately for Sam Gaty, broke a shaft about that

time. To make a new one seemed to be beyond the mechanical resources of St.

Louis. Newell, the blacksmith, heard about the trouble. He suggested that Gaty

might be able to turn out a steamboat shaft. McQueen was incredulous, but he

sent for the youth from Louisville. Gaty said he could make a shaft. "How

will you do it?" asked McQueen. "That is my business," replied

Gaty. He was given the opportunity and turned out the shaft, the first one

manufactured in St. Louis. Later Sam Gaty made the first steam engine built in

St. Louis or west of the Mississippi. His fortune after that was a matter of

industry and persistent attention to business. 




The way in which Gaty prepared

for his shaft-making excited great interest in St. Louis. There wasn't a geared

lathe in the place. Hunting up two cogwheels of different sizes, Gaty bolted

the larger to the face plate of the lathe and the smaller one he put on the

center shaft. He arranged his machinery in such an efficient manner that he

turned the new shaft in a day and a half. There was a brief controversy over

the price of the job. McQueen asked Gaty before he began how much he was going

to charge. "One-half of your whole price," said Gaty. McQueen

demurred. Gaty, recalling the way in which he had been refused work, said,

"Get your skilled workmen from the east to do it." McQueen thought it

over and told Gaty to go ahead. 




On the reputation acquired in the

steamboat shaft incident, Gaty started a foundry. The three partners had a

capital of $250. The money was absorbed before the business was well

established. Mr. Gaty took a place by the day at $1.25. He went into

partnership with his employer and built up one of the largest of the early

industries of St. Louis. In his old age he was very wealthy, his success being

ascribed to the fact that he stuck to the business and had never risked

anything in speculation. In 1840 Mr. Gaty married Miss Elizabeth Burbridge. He

was the father of thirteen children. 




Philip Kingsland learned the

manufacture of iron in his father's shop at Pittsburg. He was put through an

apprenticeship which was not only thorough but showed him no favors because he

was the son of the proprietor. In 1835, at the age of twenty-six, he came to

St. Louis and started a foundry and machine shop. His brother George joined

him. The Kingslands later engaged in the manufacture of agricultural machinery.






The 160 foundry and machine shops

of St. Louis in 1910 showed a gain of twenty-five per cent in product since

1905. They were employing 7,000 people and the output was valued at

$15,000,000. They were making all kinds of tools and engines and iron work for

building. They were sending their product to the Orient and all parts of South

America. 




A steamboat – hull,

engines, tackle and all of St. Louis make – came to the wharf on the

25th of April, 1842. Citizens began to talk of a manufacturing city. Hundreds

of boats were built here after that. Not one of them made the public impression

that the St. Louis Oak did when she steamed down from Captain Irvine's

boatyard. 




To the Kentuckians who flocked to

Missouri about 1830 this city owes the origin and the rise of its hemp market.

And with the raw material came the manufacture of rope and gunny cloth and

allied products. In 1853 the 63,450 bales of hemp received here were worth

$300,000. McClelland, Scruggs & Co. and Douglass & Bier joined with

others in the manufacture of rope and hackled hemp under a new patent, and

utilized from 2,000 to 3,000 tons of the raw material yearly. Near the shot

tower on north levee John L. Elaine conducted large rope works. Just below Park

avenue Johnson, Bartley & Lytle had a large rope manufactory. R. B. Bowler

came from Cincinnati and organized the St. Louis Rope and Bagging company. St.

Louis came to the front in manufacture of wire rope and aerial tramways in a

phenomenal manner, sending the product to all parts of the North and South

American continents. The output of these plants, including rope and cable of

fiber with metal, in 1910 was $6,000,000. 




St. Louis became a great market

for flaxseed and a center for the manufacture of oil. This was a development

promoted by the white lead industry. As Henry T. Blow increased the manufacture

of white lead, he encouraged the production of flaxseed and castor beans by

importing the seed and the beans and making distribution to farmers who would

plant. 




Long before the first railroad

was built westward St. Louis received by wagon haul of forty miles shipments of

gunpowder. The place of manufacture was Gallagher's Mill in Franklin county.

John Stanton, for whom a town was named later, was the pioneer manufacturer. He

utilized the nitrous earth found in the caves of the foothills of the Ozarks. 




Ellis N. Leeds, the son of a New

Jersey farmer, laid many thousands of brick in the first ten years he had lived

in St. Louis. The journeyman became a director of the Merchants bank, of the

St. Louis Gas Light company, of the Cheltenham Brick company, of the Vulcan

Iron company, and retired a capitalist after thirty years of active business

life. 




Nicholas Schaeffer with his three

brothers walked over the Alleghany Mountains on his way to St. Louis. The young

men and their mother came to America in 1832. They bought a horse and wagon at

Baltimore and started to drive to Cincinnati. At Hagerstown the horse was stolen.

The mother was given a place to ride in a freight wagon. The sons walked to the

Ohio river at Wheeling. Nicholas Schaeffer mixed mortar for seventy-five cents

a day, worked in a tannery at fifteen dollars a month, was steward in a hotel,

tried flat boating before he came to St. Louis in 1839 and made the beginning

of what was to be for forty years the largest soap and candle manufactory in

the west. He came from Alsace, then in France, now a German province. 




Gerard B. Allen was the son of a

manufacturer in Cork, Ireland. He came to St. Louis a young man in 1837 and

engaged in contracting and building. From manufacturing lumber he went into

iron and established the Fulton Iron Works. 




The Garrisons were New Yorkers,

sons of Oliver Garrison who ran some of the earliest packets long before

railroad days between New York city and West Point on the Hudson. Daniel R.

Garrison, with some knowledge of steam engine construction gained in shops at

Buffalo and Pittsburg, came to St. Louis in 1835 and was put in charge of the

drafting for the Kingsland, Lightner & Co. foundry and engine works. He was

just of age. In 1840 Daniel R. Garrison and his brother Oliver began to

manufacture St. Louis steam engines. With the rush to the gold diggings Daniel

R. Garrison went to California. Oliver Garrison remained in St. Louis building

steam engines and shipping them to his brother. Of the first lot of three

engines Daniel R. Garrison sold one to the Hudson Bay company. He went to

Oregon to deliver it. The main couplings were lost overboard. There was no time

to send back to St. Louis for new parts. Daniel R. Garrison, with Indian

guides, went 100 miles into the Willamette wilderness, dug some iron ore, built

a temporary furnace, smelted the ore and made new couplings. This is said to

have been the first manufacture of iron on the Pacific coast. The engine which

Daniel R. Garrison built for the boat is said to have been used on the first

steamboat constructed on Pacific waters. The Garrisons retired with fortunes

from the foundry business. Daniel R. Garrison took up railroad building and

management first with the Ohio and Mississippi, now the Baltimore and Ohio, in

the fifties, and then with the Missouri Pacific during the war. After the war

the Garrisons took up and for ten years carried on the great iron manufacturing

industry, the Vulcan and Jupiter works, at the south end of Carondelet. 




The original Plymouth Rock stock

sent its representatives to the upbuilding of St. Louis. Warren A. Souther and

E. E. Souther, who established a house dealing in iron, about the Civil war

period, descended from Nathaniel Souther, the first secretary of the Plymouth

colony. A branch of this numerous New England family settled in Alton in 1842.

From Alton the Southers came to St. Louis. Out of the iron business established

by the Southers grew the Souther Iron company and later the Missouri Bolt and

Nut company. 




One of the chief surprises of a

fair held in 1842 was "a St. Louis manufactured stove." This was the

initial effort of the Empire Stove Works established by the Bridges. Hudson E.

Bridge and his brother began the manufacture of stoves in a modest plant up

town. By 1848 they were occupying half a block at Main and Almond. Six years

later they had spread to the levee. They were melting ten tons of iron a day

and turning out 11,000 stoves a year. That was in 1854. The Empire was one of

four stove-making establishments in St. Louis at the time. 




The Excelsior Stove Works of

Giles F. Filley & Co. had been in operation since 1850. This establishment

had finished 20,000 in the third year of operation, using 4,000 tons of iron.

These stoves had been shipped to all parts of St. Louis trade territory. They

had given the stove manufacturing center of the country, Albany, its fatal

shock. A fireproof pattern safe assured the community that the Excelsior Works

had come to stay. This safe was like no other in the United States. It had

massive brick walls without windows, three stories, an iron roof with an iron

shutter which could be opened to let in the light and air. There the patterns

of the many varieties of stoves were kept secure from fire. 




In 1910 St. Louis was

manufacturing twice as many stoves as any other city in the United States. The

product that year was 847,000 stoves, which sold for $8,800,000. 




A scientific discovery which

revolutionized stove manufacture is credited to Giles Franklin Filley. It was

of the useful, homely character which might be properly associated with Mr.

Filley 's middle name. The discovery came about through Mr. Filley's

experiments to find something better than the close iron door which covered the

feedhole to his iron furnace. The iron of the door became so hot when the cupola

was fired that it soon burned out. The workmen couldn't stand in front of it.

Mr. Filley tried a wire screen covering. Rather to his surprise this held the

heat within the furnace, did not become so hot as the iron door and lessened

the amount of fuel necessary for smelting. It was a saving of expense in the

operation of the cupola furnace. At that time the stove manufacturers of the

country claimed great improvement in the construction of oven doors which were

close-fitting on cookstoves. They went so far as to make double doors with

non-conducting material between the plates. The object was to keep all of the

heat in the oven. Having observed the efficiency of the wire screen over the

cupola door, Mr. Filley tried a gauze wire door to the cooking stove. He

discovered it gave a more even temperature; that baking and roasting could be

done with less fuel. But perhaps more than all, the cooking with the gauze wire

door did not burn and destroy the savory odors. 




For a full generation after the

cooking stove became general in St. Louis homes, lament was loud and universal

that things did not taste as well as they did when done in the old way. The

local scientists wrestled with the problem. John H. Tice, who was known locally

as the philosopher of Cheltenham, stated the indictment against the cooking

stove: 




 




Those whose remembrance runs

back half a century, when cooking stoves began to come into use, will recall

the fact that their sainted mothers, while lavish in praises of the handiness,

convenience and general performance of the innovation, uniformly made one

objection to it, namely, that in baking and roasting it did not come up to the

old standard. All persons who have passed the meridian of life recall with zest

the fine and delicious flavor of the tender beef, pork, lamb, turkey, etc.,

roasted before the open fire, and hence their own experience can bear testimony

to the maternal objection. 




 




The gauze doors determined that

it was far better that the ovens should not be airtight for baking; that excessive

heat meant annihilation of the distinctive odors of meats and other things. The

local scientists agreed that 212 degrees was about the proper standard to

accomplish the best oven results and that Giles F. Filley's gauze wire doors

operated to maintain such a standard with a saving of wood or coal. A higher

range of heat, it was agreed injured the baking. 




Hitchcock & Co., in the

southern part of the city, also made stoves, and by way of variety turned out

3,000 plows a year. The south as well as the west, before the Civil war, was

looking to St. Louis for agricultural machinery. 




The immediate vicinity of St.

Louis became famous for its fruit. Pomology had its professors seventy years

ago. In 1837 the wife of Peregrine Tippet, a Marylander, who called his farm in

St. Louis county Cedar Grove, planted apple seeds. She was Susanna Lee, the

mother of Mrs. Martrom D. Lewis. From that seed planting came the apple popular

several generations ago as "Aunt Susan's Favorite." Norman J. Colman,

after much investigation, decided that no part of the United States offered

such encouragement to fruit growing as the vicinity of St. Louis. When the

Civil war came Mr. Colman had the greater part of what is now known as the

Cabanne section covered with a young nursery. He had planned to supply young

trees for the starting of thousands of orchards in Missouri and Southern

Illinois. The war paralyzed the industry. Mr. Colman was the first Secretary of

Agriculture. 




As early as 1835-40 several St.

Louisans became deeply interested in the subject of wine growing. One of them

was Kenneth McKenzie. He made a trip to Europe for the purpose of getting

information as to vineyards and as to wine making. 




Amadee Berthold brought over from

France while he was there a cutting of a celebrated grape. He placed it in a

tin pan with earth. At that time a certain allotment of water was made to each

passenger crossing the ocean. 




Mr. Berthold cut down his

allotment until he actually went thirsty in order that he might use the water

to nourish the cutting. That vine, for it had rooted when Mr. Berthold reached

St. Louis, was planted back of the Berthold mansion on Fifth and Pine streets.

It grew to very large size and bore enormously. 




 




Thomas Allen, afterwards the

railroad builder, took up grape culture and established a vineyard on the

Russell place, near where the McKinley high school is located. Mr. Allen had

made for him a gray blouse, such as was worn in the vineyards of Germany. He

donned this blouse, and attended -to his grapes daily. He wrote charmingly of

the opportunities St. Louis presented for horticulture. In a St. Louis

newspaper of September 29, 1846, appeared this acknowledgment: "Thomas

Allen of Crystal Springs farm, in the southern part of the city, has presented

us with ten varieties of peaches raised this season on his grounds. Mr. Allen

has a heavy crop of apples, of which there are thirty varieties; also a large

crop of grapes, of which he has twenty varieties." 




There were great expectations

from 1845 to 1860 that St. Louis would become one of the principal wine markets

of the United States. Extensive vineyards were planted. Much careful study was

given to grape culture and wine making. One of the experts who passed upon the

condition here was a minister, Rev. Mr. Peabody. He claimed that in climate and

soil the advantages of the vicinity of St. Louis were superior to any part of

the United States, east of the Rocky Mountains. An estimate gave 15,000,000

acres in Missouri tributary to St. Louis suitable for vineyards. 




Alexander Kayser was one of those

who anticipated great development for the wine industry of St. Louis and

vicinity. In 1848 he offered three premiums of $100 each for "the best

specimens of Missouri wines, the vintage of three consecutive years." The

competitors numbered twenty-seven for the third year. The premium went to Jacob

Romel of Hermann on "a wine of pure Catawba grapes." 




Gustave Edward Meissner joined

the viticulturists of St. Louis. He was a relative of the Roeblings, the famous

bridge builders of New York, and before coming to St. Louis had given a great

deal of study and investigation to grape growing. Finding the vicinity of St.

Louis ideal in respect to soil and climate for viticulture, Mr. Meissner made

this his home. He acquired an island in the Mississippi a few miles below the

city, called Meissner's Island. There he established a vineyard of 600 acres.

At one time his vines were producing 100 varieties of grapes. 




A fact that encouraged the St.

Louis wine-makers was the discovery of six fine varieties of grapes that seemed

to be native to the soil of Missouri, and proof against disease. These early

experiments produced wines which experts pronounced excellent in flavor and

keeping quality. The grapes grown in the vicinity of St. Louis were declared to

yield a "must full of body and having saccharine enough to prevent acetic

fermentation." 




But notwithstanding all of the

natural encouragement for grape growing and wine making the St. Louis market in

1853 received of native wine only nine casks, seven barrels and eight boxes. A

hundred years before Cahokia and Kaskaskia across the river were making more

wine than that. The wine product of St. Louis in 1870 was $800,000. 




The brewing of lager beer in St.

Louis began in 1840. Adam Lemp came to this country from Germany. Two years

after settling in St. Louis he started a small establishment on Second street

between Walnut and Elm. Twenty years later "Lemp's" had become one of

the institutions of the city. Upon Second street was a large public hall where

people gathered and drank their "lager," as they called it. In the

rear of the hall were the manufacturing departments and the vaults where the

beer "lagered." 




St. Louisans commenced drinking

beer in 1810. St. Vrain opened a brewery north of the city and put it in charge

of a German brewer named Hab. He made two kinds, strong and table beer. Strong beer

he sold for ten dollars a barrel, and table beer for five dollars a barrel.

These prices were cash. If produce was taken, St. Vrain charged twelve dollars

a barrel. About the same time Jacob Philipson made beer which was retailed

"at twelve and one half cents a quart at the stores of Sylvester Labbadie

and Michel Tesson, and at various other convenient places." Ezra English

made malt beer and stored it in English cave, where Benton Park is now. Then

the firm of English & McHose was formed to manufacture beer on a large

scale for that day. The rising tide of German immigration made lager beer

familiar to St. Louisans before 1850. 




In 1860 the Mississippi Handelszeitung

gave a list of forty breweries in operation in St. Louis, making 23,000 barrels

of beer a year, with a capital of $600,000. The magnitude of the business

seemed amazing to the American newspapers. The statistician of the Missouri

Republican figured that the consumption in St. Louis was 658 glasses for every

person in the course of a year. The product of twenty-seven St. Louis breweries

in 1910 was $25,000,000, giving St. Louis second place among the beer exporting

centers of the United States. The employees numbered 5,373 and the wages paid

to them amounted to $4,416,000. The supplies purchased, most of them in St.

Louis, during the year amounted to $15,000,000. The factories and shops

furnishing these supplies gave employment to 20,000 people, whose wages

aggregated $13,000,000. 




In 1854 St. Louis had "a

cotton factory, the thread of which had almost superseded all other yarns in

the St. Louis market." This industry had not only survived the fire of

1849, but had grown from a little shop near Main and Chestnut to one of the

largest plants in the city. It was located on Menard, Soulard and Lafayette

streets. It was working up from 1,500 to 1,800 bales of cotton a year and

turning out 400,000 pounds of cotton yarn, 90,000 pounds of carpet warp, 40,000

pounds of candlewick, 60,000 pounds of cotton twine, 740,000 yards of cotton

sheeting, and 120,000 pounds of cotton batting. 




Why St. Louis did not become a

cotton manufacturing center has never been made clear. The first spinning mill

west of the Mississippi was started here in 1844. It had 800 spindles. A new

building was erected. The number of spindles was increased to 1,600. The mill

ran steadily and with apparent success until 1857, when it was entirely

destroyed by fire. Adolphus Meier inaugurated the industry. He had come from

Bremen with a fine education and some capital in 1837. His father was a man of

high standing as a lawyer and held the office of secretary of the Supreme

court. After seven years in other business in St. Louis, Mr. Meier and his

relatives established the cotton-mill. When the mill burned, a charter was

obtained from the state and the St. Louis cotton factory was built, Mr. Meier

becoming the president. Most of the stock was taken by his firm. 




Adolphus Meier was one of the

pioneers of manufacturing in St. Louis. He did much more than start the first

cotton factory west of the Mississippi. He inspired extensive and expensive

experiments to make coke from soft coal in the Belleville district. He

established the Meier iron works of East Carondelet. He assisted in building at

St. Louis the largest tobacco warehouse in the United States. The Peper cotton

press was equipped with hydraulic, presses, in part the invention of Edwin D.

Meier, the son of Adolphus Meier. This revolutionized the handling of cotton

bales. Christian Peper backed the working out of this problem liberally. There

was almost no manufacturing problem to which Adolphus Meier did not lend his

aid. The fact that his investments were not always profitable did not

dishearten him. One thing Mr. Meier did for manufacturing in St. Louis was of

great consequence. He made evident to those who came after that fuel could be

laid down cheaper at St. Louis than at any other manufacturing center in the

country. A part of this demonstration Mr. Meier brought about by the

construction of a turnpike in Illinois from the mines to the bank of the river

opposite St. Louis. This was done in 1848. It made possible the transportation

of coal to St. Louis through the winter and spring months in which, previously,

the supply had run short, with the result that prices soared. Later Mr. Meier

headed a company which built and operated the Illinois & St. Louis railroad

for the purpose of carrying coal to St. Louis. 




In a little shop on Walnut

street, across from the Cathedral, William Schotten ground out spices with a

hand mill. That was in 1847. Under thirty years of age, he had come from Nuess,

near Duesseldorf. St. Louis was a Mecca for the Germans coming to America in

that period. Schotten came because others of his countrymen were en route here.

The little factory he established was a beginning. The founder with his own

hands turned the crank of the mill. Then he went out and made the rounds of the

grocers, selling his stock. Before he died in 1874 he saw his business grown to

$200,000 a year. In 1897, the house he had established celebrated a

semi-centennial anniversary when the annual business amounted to a volume of

which the founder had never dreamed. 




The development of the sugar

refining industry of St. Louis in 1850-60 was enormous. In 1851 the refined

sugars shipped away from St. Louis had reached 21,893 barrels, according to the

government report. Within four years after that time the amount of sugar

refined and shipped from St. Louis was over 100,000 barrels. In three months of

1854 the sales of sugar, molasses and syrups at the St. Louis refinery were

over $800,000. In 1850-5 St. Louis imported five times as much sugar as

Cincinnati did. St. Louis refined sugars were famous. In 1853 St. Louis

imported 50,774 hogsheads, 13,993 barrels and 40,217 boxes and bags. The

refining of sugar was one of the principal industries. Of the entire Louisiana

sugar crop St. Louis received more than went to all of the Atlantic ports from

Maine to Florida. This was the sugar manufacturing and distributing point for

the interior of the country. 




One manufacturing industry meant

others. As the refining of sugar grew in magnitude cooperage became important

in St. Louis. The cooper shop was an adjunct of the Belcher refinery. It

employed 125 men and occupied a large stone building. In 1853 this shop turned

out 121,000 pieces, chiefly barrels and half barrels, to carry the sugars and

syrups refined and manufactured by the refinery. This product required

2,000,000 staves, lumber for headings and 800,000 hoop poles and twenty tons of

hoop iron. The city that year had a coopers' society with 600 members. So

rapidly did the business of the refinery develop that a considerable proportion

of the cooperage work was given to outside shops. There were times when the

coopers of St. Louis working ten hours a day could not keep up with the demand

for barrels and other pieces of cooperage. 




The first type foundry in St.

Louis was established by A. P. Ladew, the son of an Albany, New York, merchant,

who came here in 1838. August Cast landed in St. Louis in 1852, without a penny

in his pocket. Leopold Cast brought over with him a press and a limited

lithographic outfit. The Casts were natives of Lippe-Detmold, Germany. They had

learned the trade of lithography in Germany. They started a little shop on

Fourth street where the Southern hotel is. In 1854 St. Louis had a type foundry

and St. Louis papers were printed with St. Louis type which sold at New York

prices. An entire newspaper outfit could be furnished in St. Louis in

twenty-four hours. The city had six lithographic, printing and engraving

establishments, four steel and copper engraving and three wood engraving. There

were six book binderies and eight book and job offices. The art preservative

was worthily and strongly represented. Much of the reputation of St. Louis

gained as a center of type manufacturing, the city owes to a German who came

from Dresden. He had served a six years' apprenticeship with a great printing

and publishing house in his native city; he had worked in the foremost type

making shops of Prague, Munich and Frankfort-on-the-Main; he spent some time in

England; he came to this country and studied in Boston. In 1874 Carl S.

Schraubstatter came to St. Louis and with James A. St. John established a type

foundry which became famous throughout the country for the excellence of the

product. 




When the St. Louis Ice Company

was organized in September, 1854, the capital consisted of 1,000 shares of $25

each. The plan of organization contained the following provision: "No one

person to be allowed more than eight shares." This met with great

popularity. In six days all of the stock was subscribed. When the stockholders

organized they chose for trustees such prominent citizens as Asa Wilgus,

Kenneth McKenzie, William M. McPherson, John J. Anderson, William W. Greene, W.

Patrick, Edward Brooks, John McNeil, T. E. Courtenay, L. Dorsheimer, John B.

Carson, George Knapp and B. F. Stout. The company located an ice house on the

Levee between Plum And Cedar streets. 




Stephen A. Douglas came to St.

Louis shortly before the presidential campaign of 1860. He emphasized in an

impressive way the opportunities for manufacturing development presented to St.

Louis: 




 




I have said that I am glad to

be here in your great state, and I am not impolite when I say you are

unappreciative of your powers here at this place. I have considered your

natural resources; with you nature has been more than lavish, she has been

profligate. Dear, precious dame! Take your southern line of counties, there you

grow as beautiful cotton as any section of this world; traverse your

southeastern counties and you meet that prodigy in the world of mineralogy, – the

Iron Mountain married to the Pilot Knob, about the base of each of which may be

grown any cereal of the states of the great northwest, or any one of our broad,

outspread western territories. In your central counties you produce hemp and

tobacco together with these same cereals. Along your eastern border traverses

the great Father of Waters like a silver belt about a maiden's waist. From west

to east through your northern half the great Missouri pushes her way. In every

section of your state you have coal, iron, lead and various minerals of finest

quality. Indeed, fellow citizens, your resources are such that Missourians

might arm a half million of men and wall themselves within the borders of their

own state and withstand the siege of all the armies of this present world, in

gradations of three years each between armistices, and never a Missouri soldier

stretch his hand across that wall for a drink of water! 




 




About 1855 glass works went into

operation at St. Louis. The industry was established at Broadway and Monroe

streets by G. W. Scolly & Co. The sand was found a few miles from the city.

The lead was here. The pearlash was obtainable from asheries on the Upper

Mississippi. Only the clay for pots to stand the intense and prolonged heat was

wanting. About that time Charles Semple in digging a well on his farm a few

miles out on the Natural Bridge road found just the clay that was required.

This clay was made into pots and put to the severest tests at the glass works

and stood them. The products of the works began at once to cut into the glass

trade of Boston at St. Louis. St. Louis glass was added to St. Louis flour, St.

Louis sugar, St. Louis yarn, St. Louis machinery. 




The fair fame of St. Louis has

made the name of the city a household word for widely varied reasons. In the

earlier years of his career Denton J. Snider, then a member of the faculty of

the St. Louis high school, during a lecture before a parlor audience, made the

assertion that the name of William T. Harris was known to more people than the

name of any other St. Louisan. Dr. Harris had developed his theories of

education along lines which made the public school system of St. Louis the

object of interest and study by educators everywhere. He had established the school

of speculative philosophy which was stimulating the minds of thinkers in many

countries. Professor Snider made his assertion positively and for a few moments

it seemed as if it would be accepted by all who heard him without challenge.

Then James A. Waterworth, not long over from County Down, Ireland, of wide

mercantile acquaintance abroad, engaged in the insurance business of St. Louis,

a reader and a writer in practical fields, questioned the accuracy of Professor

Snider's opinion. Admitting all that had been told respecting Dr. Harris, Mr.

Waterworth said he thought there was another St. Louisan whose name was known

to more people in this and other countries. Mr. Snider called for the name.

" Whittaker," said Mr. Waterworth, stoutly. "I believe more people

know the name of the St. Louisan associated with the sugar cured ham than have

heard of Dr. Harris." 




The first Sunday that Francis

Whittaker spent in St. Louis he went to the Presbyterian church to hear Dr.

Potts. After the service he walked out to the high ground west of Jefferson

avenue, and turning about looked long and thoughtfully at the St. Louis of

1848. He had come west with letters that made it possible to choose his

location. A brother, Dr. John H. Whittaker, was president of the New York Medical

college. Before he left the grove of trees on the ridge, Mr. Whittaker decided

that St. Louis was to be his American home. He had come from County Leitrim,

Ireland, where his father, of good birth, had held the office of sheriff.

Practical knowledge of two kinds of business, widely separated, had prepared

Mr. Whittaker for his St. Louis career. There was an apprenticeship served to a

packer in Sligo. After that had come several years of experience in a bank. Mr.

Whittaker became a pork packer. In the early years of the enterprise he was his

own foreman and when work pressed he took his place at the "cutter's

table." When he reached home in the evening often his hands were too tired

for the knife and fork. Direct shipments to Europe were advocated by Mr.

Whittaker with great earnestness as long as he lived. Their importance to the

development of St. Louis were in his opinion very great. 




In 1858 St. Louis claimed

confidently "the largest beef and pork packers in the Union." The

Ames family moved west from Oneida county, New York. Nathan Ames and his two

sons, Henry and Edgar, were pioneer pork packers in Cincinnati long before

"the Queen City of the West" had gained the sobriquet of

"Porkopolis." They went there in 1828, but in 1841 they decided that

St. Louis was a coming center of commerce, more encouraging than Cincinnati.

Henry Ames added to knowledge of pork packing a thorough acquaintance with the

river transportation business. 




Almost the only industry of St.

Louis which the Civil war did not materially injure was pork packing. It was in

the hands of a group of men devoted to the Union. When St. Louis began to

organize an army, before there was commissary or other preparations to take

care of volunteers, these pork packers supplied food to the "Home

Guards." Later, when the troops were mustered in faster than the business

departments of the army could be organized, these packers supplied food in

great quantities, trusting to the government to straighten out the

irregularities and to meet the bills. Several firms pursued this policy of

doing all that was asked in emergencies and trusting to the government. They

gave credit to the government to the extent of hundreds of thousands of

dollars. The patriotic course had its reward, although that was hardly

foreseen. The War Department patronized the firms which had acted promptly and

liberally in 1861. When the war ended the packing industry of St. Louis was

flourishing. These firms were Francis Whittaker & Co., Henry and Edgar Ames

& Co., and John J. Roe & Co. 




The Ames Brothers came to St.

Louis with their father, Nathan Ames, in 1841. Two centuries back the Ameses

were an old colonial family of Massachusetts. Henry Ames was eight years the

older. The brothers were unlike physically and mentally, but between them

existed an affection of extraordinary character. Henry Ames was a broad

shouldered, square faced man. Edgar Ames was not so heavily built. His face was

that of the student and thinker. The lineaments of Henry Ames were those of the

intense business man. When paralysis made it impossible for Henry Ames to walk

he was carried daily to his counting room, and, sitting in his chair, directed

the business. Edgar Ames suffered from gradual paralysis for some years before

his brother was affected. The physicians suggested rattlesnake poison as a

medicine to check the disease. Henry Ames insisted that the effects of the

poison be tried upon him and that the doctors study the result in his case

before they experimented with his brother Edgar. He had his way and took six

doses, although warned that his condition was entirely different from that of

his brother, and that while the poison might be of benefit or harmless to the

younger man it might operate badly with him. The poison did make Henry Ames

very sick. A variety of business enterprises besides the pork packing industry

claimed the attention of Henry Ames. Edgar Ames was fond of books and art. He

did much for St. Louis in that direction, but he looked forward to the

accumulation of a fortune which would enable him to do a great deal more.

Someone asked Edgar Ames why he continued to work so hard. His reply was,

"I work to make money to beautify our city." While he was looking

forward to the time when he could carry out the plans which he had in mind but

was not ready to make public, death came suddenly. Henry Ames and Edgar Ames

died within a year of each other. Edgar Ames was only forty-three. 




One of the cheeriest of the

business magnates of St. Louis in the before-the-war period was the remaining

member of this group of packers. John J. Roe settled here about the same time

that the Ames family did. He was one of the Ohio river steamboat-men who came

to St. Louis to trade, and who decided that residence in St. Louis offered the

best opportunities. The devotion of John J. Roe to the Union cause was perhaps

more remarkable than the patriotic impulses of Whittaker and the Ames brothers.

Mr. Roe had been a slaveholder, but from conscientious belief that the peculiar

institution was not right he had freed his negroes. He was of New York birth.

His parents migrated to the Ohio river where, at Rising Sun, his father

operated a ferry. Roe was a genius as a trader. He rose in steam-boating to the

position of captain with a share in the profits. He was so successful that in

two years he had become sole owner of the boat. In 1840 he landed at St. Louis

with a boat load of merchandise on a trading expedition to the Upper Missouri.

The prospects of the city so impressed Mr. Roe that he remained here and

started a commission house. This grew into the pork packing business of Hewitt,

Roe & Kercheval. James Hewitt & Co. of New York had branches in the

West. A few years after Mr. Roe started in St. Louis, the community saw his

proverbial good humor tested. A fire swept away the pork packing house. Mr. Roe

settled with everybody, kept his cheerfulness and began to build his fortune

over again. He had more partners, probably, than any other business man in St.

Louis in that day. He went into all kinds of business enterprises. He had

investments in steamboats. He was a director in steam railroads and in street

railroads, in banks and in insurance companies. And all of the time he was

calling acquaintances by their first names, doing helpful acts, bolstering

somebody's credit, giving instructions in his business and seeing anybody who

wanted to see him. Thirty years afterwards St. Louis produced another business

man with like capacity for handling multifarious enterprises and with similar

friendliness of manner toward everybody – David R. Francis.

"Captain Roe," those best acquainted said, was one of the last of St.

Louis "captains." There came a day when the stockholders who were

building the Eads bridge were pessimistic; they tired of the assessments and

talked of stopping the work. John J. Roe came forward with $100,000 cash to

continue the construction. He went to New York, called the large stockholders

together, and in thirty minutes there had been subscribed $1,200,000. 




On Lafayette avenue, on Compton

Hill, Captain Roe laid put one of the show places of St. Louis with ten acres

of ground, where he hoped to spend his declining years. But he went ahead at

full steam down town. He met one man and asked him why he looked so blue.

"I have two thousand barrels of pork to deliver tomorrow," was the

reply. "The railroad people say they cannot reach here for three days.

Pork has advanced three dollars a barrel." "I'll loan them to

you," said Captain Roe, and he wrote the order for delivery. He was

passing a young man on the street when he turned back and asked: "You said

some weeks ago you wanted to get a bookkeeper's position; have you

succeeded?" "No, Captain," was the reply. "Well," said

Captain Roe, "go up to Mr. Blank's and tell him that you are the young man

I spoke about several days ago. If the place suits you he will give it to

you." "The bank does not seem to like this paper," a business

man said as he met Captain Roe near the cashier's desk in one of the financial

institutions of the city. "Why, what is the matter with it?" asked Captain

Roe. "If they don't want it I'll take it." The cashier reconsidered.

An agent of the packing house who was going out to buy to the extent of

$500,000, came into the presence of the head for his instructions. "All

you have to do is to take care of your money and see that you get all the

property you pay for," said Captain Roe, and the agent passed out. He was

in his sixty-first year and was attending a meeting of one of the many

corporations in which he was interested one day of February, 1870, when his

voice suddenly failed, the smile faded, the head dropped to one side and

Captain Roe was dead. 




The meat packing houses of St.

Louis increased their product over fifty per cent from 1905 to 1910, selling in

the latter year $26,601,000 worth of meats. 




One of John Hogan's

"Thoughts About St. Louis" in 1854 suggested this advantage of St.

Louis as a center of productive commerce: 




 




First, perhaps chiefest, among

the requisites for large manufacturing establishments, is an abundant supply of

food of all kinds, and at fair living prices. To manufacture extensively in all

the various branches of mechanism entering into commerce requires an immense

number of hands. To supply these and their families and all dependent upon

them, with food convenient for them, absorbs at the best a large amount of the

entire proceeds of their labor. Now, one of the immutable laws of trade is,

that where the demand is greater than the supply, the price of the article is

enhanced. If, then, there is a large concentration of operatives, who from

their vocations are necessarily consumers, and not producers of food, unless

they are employed nearest to the greatest and most abundant supply, they will

find enhanced prices, and, by consequence the pro rata of wages over the amount

expended for food is proportionally decreased. But is there any place in the

United States where there is a greater concentration of food at fair, we may

say first hand prices, than at St. Louis? I doubt whether, as an original and

supply-produce point, St. Louis has its equal anywhere. 




 




Audubon, the naturalist, during

his visit to St. Louis in 1843, was impressed with the abundance of food

supplies from the country immediately adjacent to the city. He wrote to James

Hall: 




 




The markets here abound with

all the good things of the land and of nature's creation. To give you an idea

of this read the following items: Grouse, two for a York shilling; three

chickens for the same; turkeys, wild or tame, twenty-five cents; flour, two

dollars a barrel; butter, six pence for the best – fresh and really good; beef,

three to four cents; veal, the same; pork, two cents; venison hams, large and

dried, fifteen cents each; potatoes, ten cents a bushel; ducks, three for a

shilling; wild geese, ten cents each; canvas back ducks, a shilling a pair;

vegetables for the asking, as it were. 




 




In a land of such plenty the

naturalist felt that hotel rates were too high. He added to his letter: 




 




And only think, in the midst

of this abundance and cheapness, we are paying at the rate of nine dollars a

week at our hotel, the Glasgow, and at the Planters we were asked ten dollars.

We are at the Glasgow hotel, and will leave it the day after tomorrow, as it is

too good for our purses. We intended to have gone twenty miles in Illinois to

Edwardsville, but have changed our plans and will go northwest to Florissant,

where we are assured game is plenty and the living quite cheap. 




 




A once promising industry of St.

Louis was the building of locomotives. In 1854 a force of 200 men worked in a

plant which embraced a pattern-maker's shop, an iron foundry, a brass foundry,

a smith's shop, a boilermaker's shop, a sheet iron worker's shop, a

coppersmith's shop, a carpenter's shop, a finishing shop and a paint shop. The

plant occupied a frontage of 500 feet on South Third street; it turned out all

of the parts of locomotives and put them together' in working form. Palm and

Robinson were the locomotive builders. They turned out the first St.

Louis-built locomotive on July I, 1853, and delivered it to the Pacific

railroad. They continued to build locomotives at the rate of about one every

five weeks. These were twenty-two ton locomotives. The material to construct

one of them, with tender, consisted of 24,500 pounds of cast iron, 9,200 pounds

of plate and sheet iron, 12,000 pounds of rolled bar iron, 7,500 pounds of

hammered iron, 1,400 pounds of steel, 4,200 pounds of copper and 500 pounds of

tin, zinc and brass. A considerable part of the metal which went into these St.

Louis-made locomotives came from Missouri mines. 




Wilhelm Palm was a highly

educated young German fresh from the University of Berlin when he came to St.

Louis. For a short time he was assistant editor of the Anzeiger. His

experiment in locomotive building at St. Louis was so successful that he

retired with a comfortable fortune. It is tradition that the first ten

locomotives for the Ohio and Mississippi railroad were constructed in St.

Louis, transported by ferry to the Illinois side and put in service on the

rails. 




Eberhard Anheuser came to St.

Louis in 1845 and went into the business of soap manufacturing. He did not

become interested in the manufacture of beer until 1860, when he acquired an

interest in the Bavarian brewery. William Anheuser, who was a boy of ten when

the family left Brunswick, Germany, continued in the business his father had

established in St. Louis – soap manufacturing. 




In 1860, St. Louis had 1,126

manufacturing industries with $12,733,948 capital, giving employment to 11,737

people and producing $27,000,000 in value. This city fell below Boston, Cincinnati,

Newark, New York, Philadelphia, Providence, Pittsburg in manufactures. 




Twenty years later, in 1880, St.

Louis had come up to 2,886 manufacturing industries, employing $45,385,000

capital and 39,724 people. The products had been increased to $104,383,587 in

value. St. Louis was surpassed in 1880 only by Brooklyn, Chicago, New York,

Philadelphia and Pittsburg. These interesting comparisons were compiled from

government census figures and were given in one of the most effective studies

of St. Louis from the business point of view in a paper presented before the

Round Table in 1882 by Charles W. Knapp. 




In 1910 the manufactured products

of St. Louis industries reached a valuation of $327,676,000, a gain from

$193,691,595 in 1900 as shown by the census. The capital invested in

manufacturing at St. Louis in 1910 was $234,199,358. The number of people

employed in these manufacturing industries was 125,087. 




Two brothers, whose grandfather

came from Switzerland to Pennsylvania, brought to St. Louis thorough knowledge

of leather manufacture. Both had been apprentices in tanneries. They were

Chauncey Forward Shultz and John A. J. Shultz. One was born in Pennsylvania;

the other in Maryland. Chauncey F. Shultz came to St. Louis shortly before the

civil war. His brother came in 1864. Together these brothers established and

developed the Shultz Belting company. The younger brother invented processes

which gave to the St. Louis industry wide repute. He manufactured a new kind of

rawhide belt which was considered a notable improvement. He introduced rawhide

lace leather, the first made in the world. He patented the woven leather belt.

In 1908 he was chosen president of the Missouri Manufacturers' association. 




The manufacture of clothing on a

large scale in St. Louis was one of the industries which became important just

after the close of the civil war. Edward Martin, after several years'

experience in Cincinnati, came to St. Louis to engage in this business. He

associated with him his brothers Claude and John. The Martins were sons of a

well-to-do freeholder in County Tyrone, Ireland. 




Thirty years ago J. D. Hayes, of

Detroit, was one of the best known experts in trade and transportation

problems. He wrote to Joseph Nimmo, the government statistician, April 7, 1881,

this notable forecast on the probabilities of manufacturing development at St.

Louis: 




 




For hundreds of thousands of

years before the present race of people were known, the Mississippi and

Missouri rivers formed their junction near the place where St. Louis now

stands, – those rivers being navigable for so many hundreds of miles in each

direction, draining a country rich in agricultural lands, as well as very

abundantly supplied with iron, coal and other minerals, together with the great

variety of different kinds of valuable timber suitable for manufacturing, all

of which could be brought to that point by the natural flow of water, thence

onward down to the Gulf of Mexico to reach open and unobstructed navigation all

the year round to all parts of the world. This vast region of country along

those rivers is capable of sustaining a population of three hundred millions of

people, without having more inhabitants to the square mile than some parts of

Europe. With such a country, and such natural resources to and from, such a

central point would not fail to attract the dullest mind to its future

prospects long before the steamboats and railroads had entered into competition

in rates with the currents of the rivers in their onward course to the ocean.

Therefore, from the beginning to the present time and for all coming time,

railroads and steamboats must compete with the currents of those rivers for the

traffic of St. Louis; therefore, manufactories at that point enjoy benefits

which are in some respects a protection as against interior towns or cities

having to pay local or non-competing rates. The St. Louis rates affect the

rates on all productions far back into the country each side of the river, as

far back as to where the local rates into St. Louis and the through rate from

St. Louis added together equal the eastbound rate by rail from the interior

cities and towns. 




The public are educated to

call this natural advantage "discrimination in rates in favor of St. Louis

" which is true so far as the other places are concerned, but it is a

" discrimination" made by God himself in the formation of the world,

therefore beyond the power of railroad managers to change. The manufacturer can

with some degree of certainty put his money, energy and material together at

that point, looking to the future wants of the vast number of people that are

in the west and the millions upon millions that will be there, and go forward

with manufacturing enterprises without limit, feeling secure in the ability to

compete with any other part of the world. 




 




In the little model shop of

Edward Burroughs on Pine street, the son William S. Burroughs, began about 1881

to work out his idea of an adding machine. The Burroughs, father and son, were

from New York. Their shop was full of castings and wheels and strange looking

things. It was frequented by St. Louis inventors who wanted their ideas put

into mechanical form. William S. Burroughs turned out a machine which would do

surprising performances in mathematics. Then he began to apply the principles

to a contrivance that would set down and add columns of figures. The first lot

of fifty counting machines would not stand wear and tear. Fifty of these

machines went into the junk heap. More substantial material was employed. In

nine years Burroughs produced the machine which would stand the tests and the

company formed to manufacture the machines began to turn out large numbers for

commercial uses. The adder became almost as common as the typewriter in banks and

other business houses. 




Several of the most beneficial

industries of St. Louis owed impetus if not origin to profits of the steamboat

business. In the upper part of St. Louis county was "the Virginia

settlement" of the Tylers and Colemans. James Dozier and his

father-in-law, John Dudgeon, coming from Lexington, Ky., in 1828, joined this

settlement. In 1844, Captain Dozier became one of a coterie of Missouri river

commanders, among them Roe, Throckmorton, Kaiser, LaBarge and Eaton. He retired

in ten years with a comfortable fortune and established himself in a country

home at Dozier's Landing, St. Charles county. Immediately after the war Captain

Dozier invested in the bakery business in St. Louis and founded the Dozier-Weyl

Cracker company. In 1880 St. Louis was a cracker and bread center, with 215

bakeries, great and small, turning out products valued at $2,000,000 a year. In

1910 St. Louis had 354 bakeries, turning out products to the value of

$7,000,000 annually. 




The wooden-ware and willow-ware

industry and trade were among the early business triumphs of St. Louis. There

was quite a trade in wooden-ware during the decade of 1830-40, but it was

carried on under the same roofs with hardware. In the summer of 1851 Samuel

Cupples came from Cincinnati, bringing a stock of wooden-ware and willow-ware,

with which he opened a store in that line distinctively on Locust street near

the Levee. Just twenty years later St. Louis ruled the world in this trade. A

statement of conditions in 1883 contained the following: 




 




In St. Louis the wooden-ware

and willow-ware trade has obtained the ascendancy over that of any other city

in America or Europe. Prices for every other city on the continent are fixed

here. In the manufacture of these wares a capital approaching in the aggregate

$3,000,000 is utilized and upwards of 1,000 hands are employed. One St. Louis

firm sells more annually than the combined trade of any other four houses in

the same line in the world, and more than the aggregate sales of all of the

houses in this line of business west of the Alleghanies. St. Louis is

absolutely beyond competition in this line, having the largest manufactory of

this character in the world. Not only are these goods, chiefly derived from

home manufactories, shipped to every considerable city and town in America, but

there is a considerable export to Cuba, South America and to Australia. 




 




At the time the above was

written, twenty-five years ago, St. Louis had a five-story paper bag factory

that was eating up ten tons of paper daily. There were three oak-ware factories

turning out more product than any other establishment of the kind in the country.

There was a broom factory using more broomcorn than all of the hand broom

factories in the west. It turned out 600 dozens of complete brooms daily. The

largest manufactory of axe handles, hoe handles and other kinds of handles in

the world was here in St. Louis. 




St. Louis wooden-ware houses in

1910 did business to the amount of $18,000,000. The leading house issued a

polyglot catalogue costing $10,000. Nearly one-half of the business of the

United States in numerous articles of household use classed as wooden-ware was

manufactured and jobbed by St. Louis houses. The pioneer St. Louis house in

this line was the largest in the country. 




The first St. Louis flouring mill

equipped with improved machinery and with steam power was at the foot of

Florida street. It was conducted by Edward Walsh. That was in 1827. Just twenty

years later St. Louis had fourteen large mills. And in 1850 there were

twenty-two mills grinding 12,000 bushels of wheat into 2,800 barrels of flour

daily. The jolly millers were a power in the business of the city. When they

organized their Millers' association, the directors included Gabriel Chouteau,

John Walsh, Joseph Powell, C. L. Tucker, Dennis Marks, Dr. Tibbetts, James

Waugh and T. A. Buckland. 




A milling business of $1,500,000 before

the civil war was the industry which Aaron W. Fagin created. The Fagins were

Ohio people, having come in the pioneer days from New Jersey. Aaron W. Fagin

left the trading business on the Ohio river to settle in St. Louis. In 1849 he

built the United States mill and began shipping to all parts of the country.

The mill was a mammoth establishment for that day. Every barrel of flour which

went out showed on the head a hand holding four aces – hard to beat. 




Previous to 1880 St. Louis was

the first city of the country in the manufacture of flour. E. O. Stanard,

George P. Plant, George Bain, Alexander H. Smith, J. B. Kehlor were feeding

bread eaters on three continents. Shortly after 1870 George Bain tried 30,000

barrels on England and went there to introduce it. In 1879 St. Louis shipped

619,000 barrels of flour to Europe and South America. George H. Morgan told the

Merchants' Exchange in 1882 that St. Louis millers had $35,000,000 invested and

were turning out 12,000 barrels of flour a day. 




St. Louis millers recognized

early the tendency to localize manufacture. In 1882 they owned and carried on

large mills at a dozen points in Illinois and Missouri. Stanard, Tiedeman,

Fath, Ewald, Kaufmann, the Kehlors, Mauntell, Borgess, Reuss had mills outside

of St. Louis which were producing 750,000 barrels of flour a year, a product

properly a part of the trade of St. Louis. 




In 1882 the flour of St. Louis

manufacture reached 1,850,000 barrels and. the receipts from outside of the

city 2,003,000 barrels. That year St. Louis sent 623,000 barrels to foreign

countries, 970,000 barrels to the eastern part of the United States and

1,660,000 barrels to the south. Besides these shipments 350,000 barrels were

sent direct from mills outside of St. Louis but owned in St. Louis. 




The centennial of the furniture

industry might have been celebrated last year. In July 1810 Heslep and Taylor

informed the public that they had "just arrived from Pennsylvania with an

extensive assortment of materials necessary for elegant and plain chairs. They

will gild, varnish, japan and paint their work agreeable to the fancy of those

who wish to encourage the business in this place." 




Three years later Philip Matile,

from Switzerland, opened a shop to do more elaborate woodwork. In 1819 came

Laveille and Morton bringing flatboat loads of lumber with their wood-working

tools stowed on top. 




Not until the decades from 1840

to 1860 did furniture manufacture take its place as one of the great industries

of the city. In 1847 Paris H. Mason and Russell Scarritt began to make

furniture on Washington avenue near Second street. Conrades and Logeman

established their business in 1854 and the next year Joseph Peters was making a

specialty of bureaus and cabinet work. John H. Crane began in 1855 and so did

William Mitchell, although his shop did not become the Mitchell company until

1870. Martin Lammert opened in 1860. The interesting and the significant fact

about these furniture makers is the identification of most of their names with

the industry to this day. Joseph Peters was a native of Prussia and learned the

trade of cabinet making before he came to St. Louis. He worked nine years at

the trade in St. Louis before he could get enough capital to open a small shop.

In 1908 St. Louis had fifty furniture factories making $5,867,000 in products,

giving employment to 7,100 people. St. Louis was exporting furniture to Europe.






The fourth city in population and

in manufacturing, St. Louis ranks first in some specialties of productive

commerce. Here are the largest shoe house, the largest tobacco factory, the

largest brewery in the United States. Here are produced more street cars,

stoves and ranges, more American made chemicals than in any other manufacturing

center of this country. 




In 1905, according to the census

experts of the government, St. Louis had obtained first place in the

manufacture of carriages, buggies and wagons. The 107 factories engaged in that

industry turned out during 1910 vehicles which sold for $10,000,000. 




To the notable industries of St.

Louis in the first decade of the twentieth century were added electrical

products. Incandescent lamps, insulated wire and a great variety of electrical

manufactures made up a jobbing volume of $20,000,000 in 1910. 




The car building industry of St.

Louis is equivalent to the support of a city of 50,000 people. Eight plants in

1910 were employing 10,000 men. They were building every kind of street car and

steam car, which ranged from the freight costing $700 to the private palace

costing $40,000. They were drawing supplies of mahogany, Oregon fir and other

material from great distances and were shipping cars to other countries, one

order of $1,000,000 going to the Argentine Republic. The railway equipment

turned out by the factories of St. Louis in 1910 amounted to $70,000,000. 




The clay products of St. Louis

factories – pipe, pottery, fire brick, terra cotta and tiling – amounted

in 1910 to $6,000,000, leading every other clay manufacturing center of the

United States by fifty per cent. This class of industries gave employment to

3,000 people. 




Manufacture of clothing became

one of the thriving St. Louis industries between 1900 and 1910. It increased

forty-seven per cent in the latter half of the decade. In 1910 the 108

factories employed 8,000 people and had an output of $14,573,000. 




In 1910 the shoe factories

numbered thirty-two, with seven others in nearby towns, owned by St. Louis

manufacturers. These thirty-nine factories employed 20,000 people and made

shoes to the number of 26,306,735 pairs, valued at $46,249,161. 




Two developments in the

productive commerce of St. Louis have been strikingly similar in the successful

results. They started thirty years apart. Conditions which confronted them were

of like discouraging character. The foresight and superb courage of a handful

of men in each of these movements meant a great deal to the industrial progress

of this city. The Filleys and the Bridges in the decade of 1840-1850

inaugurated the manufacture of stoves against the opinion of the business

community, creating an industry which has grown to nineteen establishments

turning out annually products to the value of $7,500,000. Thirty years later

the Browns, the Hamiltons, the Desnoyers and a little group of men began a

demonstration of the advantages St. Louis offered for manufacture of boots and

shoes. They faced the same adverse opinion which failed to deter the pioneer

stove-makers. This industry grew until there were thirty-two shoe manufacturing

concerns in St. Louis turning out 100,000 pairs of shoes a day, with an annual

product of over $25,000,000. The Browns were from New York state. In the decade

1870-80 they sold shoes in the St. Louis territory. To George Warren Brown came

the inspiration that shoes for this trade could be made in St. Louis. The house

for which George Warren Brown traveled sought to dissuade him from

manufacturing by an offer of share of profits in the jobbing. The young man was

barely twenty-five when he took his $7,000 of savings, and with $5,000 added

for capital started in a loft on St. Charles street the modest beginning of the

industry which has proven so much for the advantages of St. Louis as a center

of productive commerce. When George Warren Brown went on the road to place the

St. Louis manufactured goods, the merchants looked at the samples, gave orders

and frankly told the shoe manufacturer they were patronizing him on personal

grounds and not with the expectation that his stock would be up to sample.

Success came quickly. Hamilton, Brown and company, leading wholesale dealers in

the boots and shoes of eastern make, began to manufacture. Others followed.

This industry drew to it young men of business judgment and energy rather than

large investments of capital. It developed upon brains rather than upon cash.

It created for St. Louis a coterie of energetic public spirited citizens. It

has done a great deal more for the city than is represented in the addition it

has made to the volume of productive commerce. As the business grew into the

form of corporations, the ambitious and the worthy were encouraged to become

shareholders. The Browns, with the recollection of their own experiences, led

in this. One of the most successful of the shoe companies consists of a hundred

partners. This single line of manufacture has developed for St. Louis half a

thousand business men whose activities and whose influence are widely felt for

the common good. 
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